
1

Salford Civic Centre
SWINTON

MEETING OF COUNCIL

Dear City Mayor and Councillors,

You are invited to attend the Meeting of Council to be held as follows for the 
transaction of the business indicated: -

DATE: Wednesday, 20 September 2017

TIME: 9.30 am

PLACE: Council Chamber, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

Councillors are requested to ensure that their electronic equipment is on silent 
during Council meetings. Approval is given to officers and councillors to use 
social media during the business of council, subject to the protocol and social 
media policy.

A G E N D A

1  Any announcements or special business (including the 
submission of any urgent  business) introduced by the 
Chair. 

2  Apologies for absence 

3  Declaration of Interests 

Disclosure by Members of “Disclosable Pecuniary Interests” 

Public Document Pack



2

(as defined by The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012), and Members’ “Personal 
Interests” in accordance with paragraph 12.1 of Salford City 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members.   

9.40 AM 

4  Minutes of meetings held on 19 July 2017 and 23 August 
2017 

(Pages 1 - 10)

9.45 AM 

5  Receipt of Petitions/Communications 

9.50 AM 

6  Membership of Committees and Panels (Pages 11 - 12)

10.00 AM 

7  Appointment of Statutory Section 151 Officer (Pages 13 - 16)

10.05 AM 

8  Co-opted Members and Independent Persons -  
Recommendations of Independent Remuneration Panel 

(Pages 17 - 20)

10.10 AM 

9  Salford City Council Constitution - Amendments (Pages 21 - 24)

10:15 AM 

10  Treasury Management Outturn Report 2016/17 (Pages 25 - 34)

10.20 AM 

11  Stonewall Diversity Champions and Employer Index 
Programme 2017/18 

(Pages 35 - 38)

10.25 AM 

12  Notice of Motion 

Carbon Emissions, Hydraulic Fracturing (aka Fracking) 
and Exploitation of New Sources of Fossil Fuel 

To be moved by Councillor Derek Antrobus and seconded by 
Councillor Rob Sharpe.



3

This Council expresses concern that exploiting new sources of 
fossil fuel, including unconventional gas, undermines the 
commitments to reduce carbon emissions to mitigate climate 
change and diverts resources away from investment in a safe 
and secure renewable energy future.

The Council notes the important environmental, health and 
safety issues involved in determining applications for hydraulic 
fracturing (“fracking”) and believes that such issues are best 
dealt with by local communities through their local planning 
authority.

This Council is strongly opposed to the commitment in the 
Conservative Party manifesto to weaken or override the 
Council's powers as a planning authority when considering any 
applications for fracking.

This Council will take steps, within its statutory powers and 
within the framework of the Greater Manchester Low Carbon 
Hub, to work to harness the abundant sustainable and 
renewable energy resources available locally; reaffirms its 
commitment to work towards becoming carbon neutral by 
2050; and will review its strategy to develop a more challenging 
target.

INTERVAL 10.45 AM 

10.55 AM 

13  Statement of the Elected City Mayor 

Please note in relation to items 14, 15 and 16 below, it is 
requested that, wherever possible, any questions are 
submitted in writing and e-mailed to the Democratic Services 
Section at decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk
by no later than 48 hours before the meeting (i.e. by 9.30 am 
on Monday, 18 September 2017).

11.10 AM 

14  General Questions or Comments to the Elected City Mayor 

11.30 AM 

15  General Questions or Comments to Cabinet Members on 
the discharge of responsibilities within their portfolios 

 Cllr Paula Boshell - Statutory Deputy City Mayor  
 Cllr John Merry - Deputy City Mayor 

mailto:decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk


4

 Cllr Bill Hinds - Lead Member for Finance and Support 
Services 

 Cllr David Lancaster - Lead Member for Environment 
            and Community Safety

 Cllr Derek Antrobus - Lead Member for Planning 
            and Sustainable Development

 Cllr Lisa Stone - Lead Member for Children’s 
              and Young People’s Services

 Cllr Tracy Kelly - Lead Member for Adult Services, Health 
              and Wellbeing

 Cllr John Ferguson - Lead Member for Workforce
              and Industrial Relations 

12.10 PM 

16  General Questions of Comments on the discharge of 
functions of Joint Authorities and Outside Bodies 

12.25 AM 

17  Scheduled Reports from Board Members 

The following reports are primarily submitted for information 
with the intention they be noted:-

 The Lowry Centre Trust 
 Salfordian Trust
 North West Employers Association 
 Manchester Port Health Authority
 SALIX 
 Territorial Army Volunteer Reserve

(Pages 39 - 98)

SCHEDULED FINISH 12.30 PM 



5

Notes for Elected Members and Members of the Public

(a) Addressing the Ceremonial Mayor during Council Meetings 

During Council meetings the City Mayor, Elected Members, Officers and members of 
the public shall address the Ceremonial Mayor as “Chair” when speaking at the 
Council meeting. 

(b) Points of Order and Personal Explanations

a) If a Member or Officer stands on a point of order or to give a personal 
explanation:

 the Member shall be heard immediately, and
 any Member or Officer speaking shall sit down.

b) A point of order shall relate only to an alleged irregularity in the constitution or 
conduct of the meeting, and the Member or Officer shall immediately give details of the 
allegation (if possible, identifying any Standing Order or statute considered to have 
been broken).

c) A personal explanation shall only be to clear a misunderstanding of something 
said by the Member or Officer. 

d) The ruling of the Chair on a point of order or a personal explanation shall be at 
his or her discretion.

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014’, 
the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record this meeting.

Miranda Carruthers-Watt
Monitoring Officer 



This page is intentionally left blank



SALFORD CITY COUNCIL

19th July, 2017

Meeting commenced:     9.30 a.m.
                                                                            “            adjourned:    10.50 a.m.
                                                                            “        re-convened:    11.10 a.m.
                                                                            “                  ended:    12.35 p.m.

PRESENT: Councillor Peter Connor - Chair of the Council and Ceremonial
           Mayor

Mr Paul Dennett - City Mayor

Councillors Derek Antrobus, Howard Balkind, Michele Barnes, 
Samantha Bellamy, Barbara Bentham, Paula Boshell, Adrian 
Brocklehurst, Tanya Burch, Bob Clarke, Christopher Clarkson, Jillian 
Collinson, Richard Critchley, Peter Dobbs, John Ferguson, Heather 
Fletcher, Karen Garrido, Robin Garrido, Jane Hamilton, Stephen 
Hesling, Bill Hinds, Christine Hudson, Ann-Marie Humphreys, Jimmy 
Hunt, David Jolley, Roger Jones, Tracy Kelly, Jim King, David 
Lancaster, Bernard Lea, Kate Lewis, Iain Lindley, Paul Longshaw, 
Charlie McIntyre, Ray Mashiter, John Merry, Margaret Morris, Gina 
Reynolds, Neil Reynolds, Brendan Ryan, Arnold Saunders, Robert 
Sharpe, Lisa Stone, Peter Taylor, Les Turner,  John Walsh, John 
Warmisham, Barry Warner, Neil Watkin, Colette Weir, Michael 
Wheeler, Peter Wheeler, Paul Wilson and Ronnie Wilson.

1. SREBRENICA

Members stood in silence in remembrance of the victims of the Srebrenica Massacre 
which had occurred in July 1995 during the Bosnian War.

2. COUNCILLOR JOE MURPHY

The Ceremonial Mayor referred to the recent sad death of Councillor Joe Murphy 
who had served as a councillor since 1971, most recently for the Claremont ward, as 
well as, amongst holding many positions, being the Ceremonial Mayor himself in 
1991/92 and a long standing member of the Planning and Transportation Regulatory 
Panel.  

Condolences were extended to Joe’s family and members stood in silence as a mark 
of respect.

Councillor Bill Hinds, Councillor Robin Garrido, Councillor David Jolley, Councillor 
Margaret Morris, Councillor David Lancaster, Councillor Les Turner, the Ceremonial 
Mayor and the City Mayor all paid their own personal tributes.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Stephen Coen, 
Graham Compton, Jim Dawson and John Mullen.  

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

5. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

The minutes of the meeting held on 17th May 2017 were approved as a correct 
record.

6. MATTERS ARISING

(a) General Comments and Questions to the City Mayor 
(Previous Minute 86 - 17th May 2017)

Councillor Lisa Stone commented that the City Mayor had given a commitment to 
join her team, who would be taking part in the UKFirst City of Salford 10k on 3rd 
September 2017 and raising money for the Salford Birth Centre Appeal. The City 
Mayor confirmed this commitment, but reserved the right to walk the course, rather 
than run it.

(b) Statement of the City Mayor
(Previous Minute 85(i) - 17th May 2017)

Councillor Arnold Saunders commented that the City Mayor should be commended 
on his individual decision to reduce his personal allowance.

7. COUNCILLOR CHRISTINE HUDSON

The Ceremonial Mayor presented Councillor Christine Hudson with a long service 
medal in recognition of the 20 years she had been a member of the Council. 

8. RECEIPT OF PETITIONS/COMMUNICATIONS

Councillor Bernard Lea submitted a petition on behalf of residents of sheltered 
accommodation at Ramsden Fold and Openshaw Court, Clifton asking whether the 
City Council could take any action with regard to the Great Places Housing Group’s 
intention to raise services fees at their properties.

9. ELECTION RESULTS

The Returning Officer submitted a report detailing the respective results of the UK 
Parliamentary Election and Claremont By-election, both of which had been held on 
Thursday, 8th June, 2017.

Councillor Neil Reynolds was welcomed to his first meeting of the Council following

Page 2



 his election as a member for the Claremont Ward

         RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted.

10. MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES AND PANELS 2017/18 
(Previous Minute 81 - 17th May 2017)

The City Solicitor submitted a report seeking approval to appointments and 
amendments to the membership of committees and panels for the Municipal Year 
2017/18.

RESOLVED:  THAT approval be given to the following appointments and 
amendments to the membership of the committees and panels respectively 
indicated:-

Committee/Panel New Member Replacing
Audit and Accounts 
Committee

Councillor Neil Reynolds

Mr Bruce Cowen
(Independent Member) 

Miss Vittoria Bugana
(Independent Member)

vacancy

vacancy

vacancy

Children’s Scrutiny Panel Councillor Neil Reynolds vacancy

Community and 
Neighbourhoods Scrutiny 
Panel 

Councillor Jimmy Hunt Councillor Jim King

Growth and Prosperity 
Scrutiny Panel 

Councillor Jim King Councillor Jimmy Hunt

Employer’s Forum Councillor John Walsh  Councillor Bernard Lea

Council Agenda Setting 
Group (CAG)

Councillor John Merry 
(as Deputy City Mayor)

n/a omitted in error from 
nominations submitted to 
and approved by Council 
on 17th May 2017.

11.   SALFORD RAIL STRATEGY  
 

Councillor Roger Jones, Executive Support for Transport, presented the Salford Rail 
Strategy (SRS). The Strategy was a comprehensive overview of aspirations for 
improvement across the rail network in Salford within the context of national and 
regional planning strategies for rail, together with an initial programme of realistic 
and achievable improvement projects for the rail network in the City over the short, 
medium and long term to 2040 and beyond.

Page 3



Councillor Iain Lindley, Councillor Robin Garrido, Councillor Lisa Stone and the City 
Mayor all added their own support for the SRS.

In response to a question from Councillor Charlie McIntyre, Councillor Roger Jones 
provided details of the current programme of adaptations to make stations disabled 
access compliant, how this work was prioritised and funded.

RESOLVED: THAT Salford Rail Strategy be endorsed and adopted.

12.    NOTICE OF MOTION 

Definition of Anti-Semitism

Councillor John Ferguson moved the following motion, which was seconded by 
Councillor Ann-Marie Humphreys.

The following is a definition of Anti-Semitism, which was agreed in May 2016 at 
a conference of the Berlin based International Holocaust Remembrance 
Alliance (IHRA):-

“Anti-Semitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as 
hatred toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of Anti-Semitism 
are directed toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, 
toward Jewish community institutions and religious facilities.”

 Salford City Council is asked to approve and adopt this definition.

Councillor John Ferguson and Councillor Ann-Marie Humphreys both spoke in 
favour of the motion.

Councillor Arnold Saunders, Councillor Heather Fletcher, Councillor Jim King, 
Councillor John Merry, Councillor Bill Hinds, Councillor John Warmisham and 
Councillor Peter Wheeler all added their own support for the motion. 

The Ceremonial Mayor then put the motion to Council.

RESOLVED: THAT the motion moved by Councillor John Ferguson, as detailed 
above, be approved and adopted.

13. STATEMENT OF CITY MAYOR

The City Mayor made a number of announcements, highlighted issues and made 
comments as follows:-

(a)   Sympathy was extended to the victims and families of those killed, or injured, in
        the recent Manchester Arena and London Bridge terrorist attacks. Mention was
        made to the bravery and  work of the emergency services and the general
        positive response of communities, both locally and nationally, in showing
        solidarity, respect and compassion in the aftermath of both incidents. 

(b)    The condemnation of racially motivated acid attacks on innocent individuals.   

Page 4



 (c)   Condolences were also extended to the victims and families of those who had
        lost their lives in the Grenfell Tower tragedy. This had demonstrated the
        invaluable work and reliance communities placed on the emergency services
        and public sector professionals, as well as exposing the stresses put on them
        and how they were under  funded. In Salford work continued to identify and take
        appropriate action for those housing blocks which were fitted will similar
        cladding panels as those at Grenfell Tower. Councillor John Merry’s particular 
        role in this work was mentioned. In a wider context, the tragedy raised many
        issues of concern, including immediate and long term health and safety ones
        and it was suggested H.M Government’s response to these had been slow, 
        often contradictory and failed to provide clarity and assurance. 

(d)    The result of the recent General Election suggested an appetite for change
        amongst the population and a rejection of H.M. Government’s austerity policies, 
        yet these continued. The particular impact of these on Salford were highlighted
        as well as the City Council’s economic regeneration strategies which went 
        someway to mitigating them.

(e)    The announcement of Kellogg’s to move their national administrative
         headquarters from Trafford to Salford.

(f)     Progress on the developments at MediaCityUK, Port Salford, 100 Greengate
         and 2 New Bailey, together with the positive impact and benefits these would
         create for Salford. 

(g)    The first new council houses to be built in Salford for decades would be
        completed by the end of the year.

(h)    Salford remained at the heart of the agenda and decision making process for
        the Greater Manchester region,

14. GENERAL QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS TO THE CITY MAYOR 

Q1.  Councillor John Warmisham thanked the City Mayor for the manner in which he
        had dealt with the issue of cladding on tower blocks in Salford following the
        Grenfell Tower tragedy. He also praised the co-operation of residents of the
        Blocks affected and made reference to the inadequate response and lack of 
        clear guidance from H.M. Government. Councillor Bill Hinds and Councillor
        John Merry both supported these comments, with the latter referring to
        comments of Sajid Javid, Secretary of State for Communities and Local
        Government seemingly prematurely apportioning blame by specifically
        criticising local authorities before the Grenfell Tower Inquiry had even
        commenced its investigations.

        Councillor Robin Garrido also endorsed Councillor John Warmisham’s
        comments in terms of the communications policy which had been put into place
        to reassure and keep affected residents informed. 

        The City Mayor replied that reassuring residents and ensuring their safety had
        been central to recent activities.

Page 5



        Councillor Bill Hinds commented this was a national issue, which the City
        Council did not have the finances to resolve at a local level and it would require
        appropriate financial support from H.M. Government. 

Q2.  Councillor Les Turner and Councillor Robin Garrido both added their own
        support to the City Mayor’s comments on the recent terrorist attacks and other
        tragedies.

Q3.  Councillor Robin Garrido referred to the building of the first council houses in 
        Salford for many years and suggested, whilst this was welcomed, social  
        housing was best managed by housing associations.

        Councillor David Lancaster said Salford City Council has an excellent history in
        the provision of social housing. The transfer to City West Housing Trust and
        Salix Homes had been because of the more advantageous funding from 
        H.M. Government this offered, given the same financial opportunities, Salford
        City Council could provide an equal, if not better service.  

        The City Mayor echoed the comments of Councillor David Lancaster and said
        local authorities were in the best position to understand the needs of their 
        communities and deliver social housing, but national policies prevented this.

 Q4. Councillor Peter Wheeler and Councillor Howard Balkind sought the City
        Mayor’s views on the DUP’s (Democratic Unionist Party) agreement to support
        the Conservative minority government in return for an extra £1b funding for
        Northern Ireland over the next two years.

        The City Mayor replied that he did not begrudge the additional funding being
        provided to Northern Ireland, but had concerns other regions were not being
        treated in the same manner and instead finding their funding from H.M. 
        Government being reduced. He questioned where this money would come
        from and said it contradicted H.M. Government’s programme of austerity and
        demonstrated a lack of consistency in their current economic policies.   
        Councillor Bill Hinds echoed these comments.
        

15. QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS TO CABINET MEMBERS

Q1.  Councillor Arnold Saunders asked whether it would be possible to reconsider
                 and halt the implementation of the three weekly cycle for the collection of
                 general waste (black bins) from homes in the City. He suggested this caused
                 difficulties for larger households, created a negative image of Salford and did
                 not result in significant increased levels of recycling.
                 
                 Councillor David Lancaster, Lead Member for Environment and Community
                 Safety, replied that the new refuse collection and recycling regime had been
                 adopted by the City Council after lengthy consideration and introduced in
                 phases across Salford. This had resulted in a generally positive response from
                 residents and the ability to resolve problems as they occurred and in advance
                 of its introduction in further areas of the City. In addition homes now had four

Page 6



                 bins, which provided a greater total refuse/recycling capacity than before.   
                 Phase 3 of the programme would commence in August, on which there had
                 already been an extensive communications strategy and consultation with the
                 public. On that basis, it was not feasible to now stop the roll out of the revised
                 refuse and recycling collection regimes across the City. If there were any
                 households where this was causing difficulties and there were legitimate
                 reasons involved, they would be considered on an individual basis.

                 The CIty Mayor added that the revised collection regime had led to improved
                 levels of recycling which in turn reduced the costs incurred by the City Council
                 and allowed finances to be redirected to essential services. 
                 

Q2.  Councillor Robin Garrido referred the intended review of the bus lane on Eccles 
        Old Road and commented that when the Conservative Group had suggested a
        similar proposal in May 2015 this had been rejected. (Previous Minute 74 - 20th

           May 2015).

        Councillor Derek Antrobus, Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable
        Development, replied that the previous Conservative Group motion, referred to
        by Councillor Garrido, had proposed the immediate and wholesale suspension
        of all current and planned bus lanes in Salford. This was a specific and isolated  
        re-evaluation of the operation of the Eccles New Road bus lane, a policy of
        periodic review the City Council would always apply should the need arise.  

Q3.  Councillor Jane Hamilton asked for an update on the achievements which were
        as a consequence of the City Council’s Carbon Management Plan.

        Councillor Derek Antrobus, Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable
        Development replied that, since 2007 there had been a 33% reduction in
        carbon consumed by the City Council and approximately £1.8m less spent each
        year on energy usage. Key factors had been the introduction of LED (light-
        emitting diode) street lighting and car club schemes. The next step was to
        encourage businesses and other organisations located in Salford to adopt
        similar initiatives.

16.   QUESTIONS OR COMMENTS ON THE DISCHARGE OF FUNCTIONS OF JOINT
        AUTHORITIES AND OUTSIDE BODIES

 (a) Q1.   Councillor David Jolley asked if there was any feedback following the recent
                 Ofsted (Office for Standards in Education) inspection of the Barton Moss
                 Secure Care Centre.

                 Councillor Lisa Stone, Lead Member for Children’s and Young People’s
                 Services, replied that the Centre had received “Outstanding” ratings from
                 Ofsted as a result of the inspection and extended thanks to all the staff
                 concerned in this achievement..

 (b)   Updates were provided in relation to the recent activities of the following bodies:-

 City of Salford Community Stadium (deferred from 17th May 2017)

Page 7



 Working Class Movement Library
 CityCo

RESOLVED: THAT the reports and information be noted.

A full audio/visual recording of these proceedings can be found on the Salford City 
Council website Council Webcast 19 July 2017

Page 8

https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/297783
https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/297783
https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/297783
https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/297783
https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/297783
https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/297783
https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/297783


SALFORD CITY COUNCIL
EXTRA-ORDINARY MEETING

23rd August, 2017

Meeting commenced:    10.30 a.m.
                                                                            “                  ended:     11:00 a.m.

PRESENT: Mr Paul Dennett - City Mayor

Councillors Derek Antrobus, Howard Balkind, Michele Barnes, 
Samantha Bellamy, Barbara Bentham, Adrian Brocklehurst, Tanya 
Burch, Christopher Clarkson, Jillian Collinson, Jim Dawson, John 
Ferguson, Heather Fletcher, Karen Garrido, Robin Garrido, Bill Hinds, 
Christine Hudson, Jimmy Hunt, David Jolley, Roger Jones, Tracy Kelly, 
Jim King, David Lancaster, Bernard Lea, Kate Lewis, Charlie McIntyre, 
John Merry, Margaret Morris, John Mullen Gina Reynolds, Neil 
Reynolds, Brendan Ryan, Arnold Saunders, Robert Sharpe, Lisa 
Stone, Peter Taylor, Les Turner, John Walsh, John Warmisham, 
Colette Weir, Michael Wheeler, Peter Wheeler and Paul Wilson.

17. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR

RESOLVED: THAT in the absence of the Ceremonial Mayor and the Deputy 
Ceremonial Mayor, Councillor Karen Garrido be appointed as Chair for the meeting.

18. MINUTE’S SILENCE

Members stood in silence as a mark of respect for those who had been killed and 
injured in the recent terrorist attacks in Barcelona and Cambrils, Spain and Turku, 
Finland.

19. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Paula Boshell, Bob 
Clarke, Stephen Coen, Graham Compton, Peter Connor, Richard Critchley, Peter 
Dobbs, Jane Hamilton, Stephen Hesling, Ann-Marie Humphreys, Iain Lindley, Paul 
Longshaw, Ray Mashiter, Stephen Ord, Barry Warner and Ronnie Wilson.  

20. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

21. FIRE SAFETY WORKS IN PENDLETON

The City Mayor and Deputy City Mayor submitted a joint report which indicated 
Salford City Council was the freehold owner of nine blocks of flats in Pendleton, 

Page 9



which had recently been refurbished in order to meet Decent Homes Standard. 
Following the tragic fire at Grenfell Tower, London, a number of assessments had 
been carried out of both the cladding alone and to the cladding and the existing 
insulation systems, installed at these blocks, the results of which indicated the 
current combination of cladding and insulation did not pass the tests recently set by 
the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG).

The results of these tests indicated that significant work could be required to be
carried out to all of the blocks, including the removal and replacement of the existing
cladding to bring them up to the required standards. The City Council had a contract 
with Pendleton Together Operating Ltd (PTOL) to deliver these necessary remedial 
works, however, whilst recognising that and the legal liabilities for the cost of the 
works would be subject to determination in accordance with the terms of the project 
documents, building regulations and the law, there was need for the necessary 
works to be carried out as speedily as practically possible to ensure the safety of 
residents. As a consequence it was proposed to provide short term funding, subject 
to confirmation of the works programme and the outcomes of the ongoing tests, to 
allow the remediation works to be undertaken. 

The report added that, Salford City Council did not accept liability for any defects in 
respect of the works, but was acting in the best interests of the residents to ensure 
their safety. The City Council had been made representations to the Secretary of 
State for Communities and Local Government on all aspects of this matter, which it 
would continue to pursue.

Councillor John Merry, Deputy City Mayor and Paul Dennett, City Mayor, introduced 
the report and supplemented the information contained within it.

Councillor Les turner, Councillor Bill Hinds, Councillor Howard Balkind, Councillor 
John Warmisham and Councillor Robin Garrido all added their support to the 
proposals and the actions taken to date, particularly those of the City Mayor and 
Deputy City Mayor.

Councillor Peter Wheeler asked what measures were being taken with regard to 
privately owned housing blocks. The City Mayor replied that this was an issue which 
was been addressed both at a Salford level and a Greater Manchester one. 

RESOLVED: THAT, pursuant to the Local Government Act 2003, approval be given 
to Salford City Council using its prudential borrowing powers, to provide cash flow 
funding to effect the execution of a programme of works to the nine blocks in 
Pendleton for which the Council has responsibility, in the sum of up to £25m, subject 
to confirmation of the scope, scale and solution of the works required.

A full audio/visual recording of these proceedings can be found on the Salford City 
Council website Council Webcast 23 August 2017

Page 10

https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/302063
https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/302063
https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/302063
https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/302063
https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/302063
https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/302063
https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/302063


1

Part one open to the public ITEM NO 

___________________________________________________________________

REPORT 
OF

CITY SOLICITOR
___________________________________________________________________

TO
Council 

ON
20th SEPTEMBER 2017

___________________________________________________________________

TITLE: Amendments to Membership of Committees 2017/18 
___________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION: The Council is recommended to note the amendments to the 
membership of committees and panels as detailed in the report. 
___________________________________________________________________

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY.

In accordance with Salford City Council’s Constitution, the Council are required to 
approve amendments to the membership of committees and panels during the 
course of the Municipal Year 2017/18. 
___________________________________________________________________

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: Council Constitution 
(Available for public inspection)
___________________________________________________________________

KEY DECISION: N/A 
___________________________________________________________________

DETAILS: Councillor Samantha Bellamy has recently indicated her intention to
resign as a member of both the Licensing and Safety Regulatory Panel and the
Corporate Parenting and Regulatory 44 Panel.

Details of those members to replace her on these panels will be reported in due 
course.
___________________________________________________________________

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Council Constitution
___________________________________________________________________

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: N/A
___________________________________________________________________

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



2

It is a requirement for Council to consider these appointments and nominations on 
an annual basis, or as and when membership changes.
___________________________________________________________________

SOURCE OF FUNDING: N/A
___________________________________________________________________

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by City Solicitor
___________________________________________________________________

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by N/A
___________________________________________________________________

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: N/A 
___________________________________________________________________

CONTACT OFFICER: Mike Relph, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
                                    Tel: 0161 793 3013
___________________________________________________________________

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): All 

Page 12



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

TO COUNCIL

ON 20TH SEPTEMBER 2017

TITLE: APPOINTMENT OF SECTION 151 OFFICER 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That Council approve the appointment of the successful candidate to the post of 
Chief Finance Officer and Section 151 Officer, and a formal offer be confirmed. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

At the meeting of the Workforce Panel on 22nd August 2017, it was agreed that a new 
post of Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) be established.  The Workforce 
Panel established an Appointment Panel to appoint a suitable candidate, subject to 
ratification by full Council. 
___________________________________________________________________

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

KEY DECISION: YES / NO

DETAILS:

1. At the meeting of the Workforce Panel on 22nd August 2017, an Appointment 
Panel was established as follows: -
 Deputy City Mayor
 Lead Member (Workforce and Industrial Relations)
 Lead Member (Finance and Corporate Business)
 Leader of the Opposition or nominated representative

  

2. This Panel agreed the job role description and the advertising approach for the 
post and the assessment and selection process to identify the most suitable 
candidate for the post.

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



2

3. The process is designed to be robust and rigorous involving a series of 
assessments measuring the skills, knowledge and experience of each 
candidate.  

4. In line with the Council Constitution, Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
prior to the formal offer of appointment being confirmed, the decision needs to 
be approved by the Council.  

5. Following a rigorous selection process which is due to conclude on 19th 
September the decision of the Panel will be reported verbally to the full 
Council at the meeting on 20th September 2017.

RECOMMENDATION

That Council approve the appointment of the successful candidate to the post 
of Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) and a formal offer be confirmed. 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Council Constitution

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Gareth James, Head of People, Place and 
Regulation, Shared Legal Service

The appointment of the Chief Finance Officer (s.151 Officer) is made in accordance 
with the decision of the Workforce Panel taken on 22nd August 2017.

The role of the s.151 Officer is a statutory post.  Each local authority must make 
arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and ensure that one 
of its officers is responsible for the administration of those affairs.

The appointment is made in accordance with the City Council's constitution, in that:

1.  Workforce Panel delegated the details of the selection and recruitment process to 
a properly constituted Appointment Panel;

2.  The Appointment Panel has recommended that an appointment should be made, 
subject to the approval of Council; and

3.  The Assistant Director (HR&OD), being the proper officer has notified every 
member of Cabinet of the identity of the proposed appointee and other relevant 
particulars, and no objection has been received from the City Mayor on behalf of any 
member of Cabinet within the period specified.

Page 14



3

It is Council's function to approve the recommendation made by Workforce Panel.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by:  N/A

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

HR IMPLICATIONS are contained within the body of the report

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: 

CONTACT OFFICER:  Samantha Betts TEL NO: 0161 607 8602

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public ITEM NO. 

REPORT OF THE CITY SOLICITOR
LEGAL & GOVERNANCE

TO COUNCIL

ON 
WEDNESDAY 20th SEPTEMBER 2017.

TITLE: Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel

RECOMMENDATIONS: THAT Council consider the report and agree the 
recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

The Panel first commissioned in 2016, is made up of five members; Alison Page, 
Chief Executive, Salford CVS; Julie Charge, Director of Finance, Salford University; 
Phil Cusack, Chairman, Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce; Neil McInroy, 
Chief Executive, CLES and Liz McQue, Chief Executive, North West Employers.  
No fee was paid to any Member of the Panel.

The Panel was supported by Miranda Carruthers-Watt, City Solicitor and Karen 
Lucas, Principal Democratic Services Advisor.

The Panel was established in accordance with the Local Authorities (Members 
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 to review the Members’ Allowance Scheme 
and to make recommendations to the Council in relation to the Council’s Co-Opted 
Members and Independent Persons.

This report contains the recommendations made by the Independent Remuneration 
Panel appointed by Salford City Council to make a recommendation to Salford City 
Council on the remuneration of:

 The Co-Opted Members who sit on the Health and Adults Scrutiny Panel, 
Children’s Scrutiny Panel and the Planning and Transportation Panel;

 The Independent Persons who sit on the Standards Committee and Audit and 
Accounts Committee.

Page 17

Agenda Item 8



2

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

Council Constitution 

KEY DECISION: No

DETAILS: 

As in previous reviews the Panel looked at data to compare the levels of allowances 
set by other authorities within AGMA. It found that the basic allowance for Salford 
City Council was now falling a little behind the average in regard to Independent 
Persons who sit on the Standards Committee.

The Panel recommended:-

1. The implementation of a formula for setting the special responsibility allowance for 
the Council’s Independent Person’s who sit on the Standards Committee; 

2. The payment to the Independent Members of the Audit and Accounts Committee 
to be increased due to the higher expectations of their role;

3. The payment to remain the same for Co-opted Members who sit on the Health and 
Adults Scrutiny Panel, Children’s Scrutiny Panel and Planning and Transportation 
Panel.  

IRP 2017 IRP 2013
Independent Persons on  
Standards Committee x 2

£396.45 plus:

 £57.00 per 
half day

 £114.00 per 
day

Chair - £1,109.00

£396.45

Chair - £563.76
Independent Persons on Audit 
and Accounts Committee x 2

£870.00

Attendance will be 
taken into 
consideration.

£396.45

Chair - £563.76
Co-opted Members:

 Health & Adults SP x2
 Children’s SP x 8
 Planning & 

Transportation Panel x 
1

£396.45

Attendance will be 
taken into 
consideration.

£396.45

Page 18



3

As and when vacancies arise it is a fundamental aim to ensure that there is full and 
equal access to the democratic process through public involvement and 
engagement. A widely advertised and clear recruitment process enables local 
residents and community and voluntary sector groups to apply to become an 
Independent or Co-Opted Member of the Council. These are voluntary roles but are 
not limited to those of independent means.

Council are asked to consider the Independent Remuneration Panel 
recommendations and determine whether they wish to agree, amend, dismiss or 
adjourn a decision. 

Once Council has received a copy of the report, there is a requirement in the 
statutory regulations to ensure that copies of the report are available for inspection 
and for a notice to be published in respect of the scheme.

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Council Constitution

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: not applicable

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: In accordance with the Local Authorities (Members 
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, it is a requirement for Council to appoint an 
Independent Remuneration Panel to review the special responsibility allowance 
scheme.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: As above.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Revenue Budget

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: not applicable

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: not applicable

CONTACT OFFICER:  

Miranda Carruthers-Watt, City Solicitor
0161 793 3620

Page 19



4

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All Wards.

Page 20



E:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\9\4\AI00004494\$hs0x4cny.doc 

Part 1
ITEM NO.

___________________________________________________________________

REPORT OF THE CITY SOLICITOR 
___________________________________________________________________

TO COUNCIL 
ON 

WEDNESDAY, 20 SEPTEMBER 2017 

___________________________________________________________________

TITLE: COUNCIL CONSTITUTION:  AMENDMENTS TO THE 
CONSTITUTION  

 
___________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Council is recommended to approve and adopt the revised Constitution 
incorporating the changes set out in this Report.

___________________________________________________________________

 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

A number of changes are required to the Council’s Constitution mainly as a result of 
the directly elected Mayor deciding upon his scheme of delegation in relation to 
Executive functions, the introduction of a new Officer Structure and the updating of 
the Members allowance Scheme. The opportunity has been taken to also clarify and 
update certain other provisions of the Constitution as set out in this report.  

___________________________________________________________________

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: Salford City Council Constitution
(Available for public inspection)
None _______________________________________________________________

KEY DECISION: NO 
___________________________________________________________________

Page 21

Agenda Item 9



E:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\9\4\AI00004494\$hs0x4cny.doc 

DETAILS:

1. Over the last eighteen months, certain constitutional changes have occurred. 
These changes started with the election of a new Mayor and the need to adopt a 
new scheme of delegation in relation the Mayor’s executive powers and duties.
Latterly other changes have been necessary such as a review of the senior officer 
structure and titles.
Therefore there is a need to formally update the constitution to reflect these 
changes.
In addition the constitution has been amended in relation to the following matters:

1.1. Gifts and Hospitality
The Members Code of Conduct has been updated to include provisions relating to 
the acceptance of gifts and hospitality by Members and voting co-opted members.
The provisions provide guidance on the circumstances when gifts and hospitality 
should and should not be accepted’ It also provides guidance on when such gifts and 
hospitality should be declared to the Monitoring Officer.

1.2. New Officer Structure 
With the approval of the new officer structure and titles on 25 April 2017 it was 
important to ensure that appropriate powers and duties were delegated to the correct 
officers. Work was undertaken to remove any inconsistences in the delegations and 
to ensure that every officer is aware of the scope of the powers and duties that have 
been delegated to them.

1.3. Members Allowance Scheme
Following the decision of Council on 16 November 2016 in relation to a revised 
scheme of allowances for the elected Mayor, the two Deputy Mayors, Lead Members 
and executive support, and the Council decision today it is necessary to amend the 
Constitution to reflect the decisions made.

1.4. Financial Regulations
In October 2016, the elected Mayor approved his delegations in respect of the 
Financial Regulations. The Constitution has therefore been updated to reflect these 
changes. In addition the elected Mayor has approved some principles to be 
considered in relation to procurement by the Council and these have now been 
incorporated into the Constitution.   

2. There are a number of smaller amendments to the Constitution in order to clarify 
issues and avoid any confusion in relation to the delegations between officers.

3.RECOMMENDATION
Council is recommended to approve and adopt the revised Constitution incorporating 
the changes set out in this Report.

___________________________________________________________________

Page 22



E:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\9\4\AI00004494\$hs0x4cny.doc 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:
___________________________________________________________________

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: - None
___________________________________________________________________

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:
Low
___________________________________________________________________

SOURCE OF FUNDING:  Not applicable
___________________________________________________________________

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Are set out in the report. 
___________________________________________________________________

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Not applicable

___________________________________________________________________

HR IMPLICATIONS: set out in the report 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Not applicable

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Not applicable
___________________________________________________________________

CONTACT OFFICER: 
Miranda Carruthers-Watt City Solicitor 

TEL. NO.0161 793 3620

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): N/A
___________________________________________________________________

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Briefing Report ITEM NO.

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT MAYOR FINANCE & SUPPORT SERVICES

TO COUNCIL

ON 20TH SEPTEMBER

TITLE: TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17       

RECOMMENDATIONS: Members are requested to consider the outturn position and 
performance of Treasury Management 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

This report provides details of treasury management activity in 2016/17.  The key highlights 
are:- 

 The continuing policy of financing borrowing requirements by utilising a series 
of short term loans from other local authorities in order to take advantage of 
historically low interest rates currently available.

 Net Interest on loans and investments has exceeded the benchmark targets.

 All treasury management activity was within the performance boundaries set in 
the approved strategy for the year 

The overall level of capital financing costs was contained within budget provision as a result 
of the borrowing strategy adopted. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

Various working papers in the Finance Division including:-
 T.M. strategy 2016/17 reported to Council on 24 February 2016.
 T.M.P’s 1 to 12 and supporting schedules
 T.M. Code of Practice (CIPFA)

KEY DECISION: YES / NO

DETAILS:

Page 25

Agenda Item 10



2

TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17       

1.  Introduction
1.1 The council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to 

produce an annual treasury management review of activities following year end. This 
report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities (the Prudential Code). 

1.2 During 2016/17 the minimum reporting requirements were fulfilled in line with the 
approved Treasury Management Strategy and the following reports were received: 

 an annual treasury strategy statement in advance of the year was received at Council 
24/02/2016

 a mid-year treasury update report was received at Overview and  Scrutiny Board 
2/11/2016

 an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared to the 
strategy to be received at Council before the end of September (this report). 

1.3 The regulatory environment places responsibility on the City Mayor and members for the 
review and scrutiny of treasury management policy and activities.  This report is, 
therefore, important in that respect, as it provides details of the outturn position for 
treasury activities and highlights compliance with the council’s policies previously 
approved by Council.  

1.4 The council uses Capita Asset Services as its external treasury management advisors 
but recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with the 
organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon our 
external service providers. It also recognises that there is value in employing external 
providers of treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources. 

1.5 This annual report provides a review of 2016/17 and covers the following major areas:

 the council’s treasury position as at 31 March 2017

 the outturn for 2016/17

 compliance with treasury limits

 investment strategy and outturn for 2016/17

2. Economic Background  
2.1 The two major landmark events that had a significant influence on financial markets in 

the 2016-17 financial year were the UK EU referendum on 23 June and the election of 
President Trump in the USA on 9 November.  The first event had an immediate impact in 
terms of market expectations of when the first increase in Bank Rate would happen, 
pushing it back from quarter 3 2018 to quarter 4 2019.  At its 4 August 2016 meeting, the 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) cut Bank Rate from 0.5% to 0.25% and the Bank of 
England’s Inflation Report produced forecasts warning of a major shock to economic 
activity in the UK, which would cause economic growth to fall almost to zero in the 
second half of 2016. The MPC also warned that it would be considering cutting Bank 
Rate again towards the end of 2016 in order to support growth. In addition, it restarted 
quantitative easing with purchases of £60bn of gilts and £10bn of corporate bonds, and 

Page 26



3

also introduced the Term Funding Scheme whereby potentially £100bn of cheap 
financing was made available to banks.   

2.2 In the second half of 2016, the UK economy confounded the Bank’s pessimistic 
forecasts of August.  After a disappointing quarter 1 of only +0.2% GDP growth, the 
three subsequent quarters of 2016 came in at +0.6%, +0.5% and +0.7% to produce an 
annual growth for 2016 overall, compared to 2015, of no less than 1.8%, which was very 
nearly the fastest rate of growth of any of the G7 countries. Needless to say, this meant 
that the MPC did not cut Bank Rate again after August but, since then, inflation has risen 
rapidly due to the effects of the sharp devaluation of sterling after the referendum.  By 
the end of March 2017, sterling was 17% down against the dollar but had not fallen as 
far against the euro.  In February 2017, the latest CPI inflation figure had risen to 2.3%, 
above the MPC’s inflation target of 2%.  However, the MPC’s view was that it would not 
raise Bank Rate, caused by sterling’s devaluation, despite forecasting that inflation 
would reach nearly 3% during 2017 and 2018.  This outlook, however, is dependent on 
domestically generated inflation, (i.e. wage inflation), continuing to remain subdued 
despite the fact that unemployment is at historically very low levels and is on a 
downward trend. Market expectations for the first increase in Bank Rate moved forward 
to quarter 3 2018 by the end of March 2017 in response to increasing concerns around 
inflation.

3.   Interest Rates

3.1 During 2016-17, PWLB rates fell from April to June and then gaining fresh downward 
impetus after the referendum and Bank Rate cut, before staging a partial recovery 
through to December and then falling slightly through to the end of March.

3.2 After the EU referendum, Bank Rate was cut from 0.5% to 0.25% on 4 August and 
remained at that level for the rest of the year.  Market expectations as to the timing of the 
start of monetary tightening started the year at quarter 3 2018, but then moved back to 
around the end of 2019 in early August before finishing the year back at quarter 3 2018.   
Deposit rates continued into the start of 2016/17 at previous depressed levels but then 
fell during the first two quarters and fell even further after the 4 August MPC meeting 
resulted in a large tranche of cheap financing being made available to the banking sector 
by the Bank of England.  Rates made a weak recovery towards the end of 2016 but then 
fell to fresh lows in March 2017.

Table 1 Example PWLB Rates 2016/17

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year
01/04/2016 1.13% 1.62% 2.31% 3.14% 2.95%
31/03/2017 0.83% 1.24% 1.91% 2.60% 2.34%
Low 0.76% 0.95% 1.42% 2.08% 1.87%
Date 20/12/2016 10/08/2016 10/08/2016 12/08/2016 30/08/2016
High 1.20% 1.80% 2.51% 3.28% 3.08%
Date 27/04/2016 27/04/2016 27/04/2016 27/04/2016 27/04/2016
Average 0.93% 1.36% 2.01% 2.72% 2.49%

Page 27



4

4.  Overall Treasury Position as at 31 March 2017 

4.1 At the beginning and the end of 2016/17 the council‘s treasury (excluding borrowing by 
PFI and finance leases) position was as follows:

  Table 2 Treasury Financing

Loan Type
£M % £M %

PWLB 0 0 0 0 N/A
Temporary loans 125.2 0.56 142.4 0.43 Mar-18
Market loans 283.2 5.12 283.2 5.12 Feb-77
Stock 13.6 7.00 13.6 7.00 Mar-19
Total debt 422.0 439.2
Less: total investments 47.3 1.02 88.03 0.55 Jan-19
Net debt 374.7 351.17

31 March 
2016 

Rate/ 
Return

31 March 
2017 

Rate/ 
Return

Latest 
Debt 

4.2 The capital financing requirement (CFR) is an estimate of the council’s underlying need to 
borrow.  At the time of preparation of the 2016/17 revenue budget it was estimated that the 
additional CFR for the year would be an increase of £1.6m. The actual CFR movement was a 
decrease of £18.2m (excluding the effect of PFI). This was due to a lower level of capital 
spend than expected and a reduction in the requirement for unsupported borrowing.

4.3 Accounting rules state that the value of assets acquired under PFI and finance leases must 
be brought onto the council’s balance sheet as the increase in the value of the assets impacts 
upon the CFR.  The actual CFR increase due to PFI assets acquired was £10.3m which led 
to a total CFR movement of a reduction of £7.9m.  

4.4 PWLB loans repaid in 2009/10 were replaced mainly with a series of short term loans from 
other local authorities.  This strategy has continued with the recycling of short term debt 
rather than committing to longer term agreements. This has enabled the council to take 
advantage of historically low rates of interest currently available. Currently loans from other 
authorities are for periods varying between 1 month and 12 months at interest rates ranging 
between 0.25% and 0.65%.  No new loans were arranged with PWLB in the year.

4.5 During the financial year the council operated within the treasury limits and prudential 
indicators set out in the council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement and Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement (TMSS).

5. Investment Strategy for 2016/17

5.1 The council’s temporary cash balances are managed by the treasury management team and 
invested with those institutions satisfying the criteria for inclusion in the Approved Lending List 
as set out in Treasury Management Strategy. The council invests over a range of time scales 
dependent on its cash flow, the interest rates on offer and the security of the investment, 
bearing in mind the creditworthiness of the institutions in which the funds are invested.

Page 28



5

5.2 The level of investments held at 31 March 2016 was £47.3m.  At the 31 March 2017 it was 
£88.3m, which partly reflected a requirement to meet an advance pension payment at the 
beginning of 2017/18 in order to achieve an approved savings target for 2017/18.    The value 
of investments was partly offset by an increase in short term borrowing.  

5.3 The rate of return on investments at 31 March 2017 was 0.55%. The benchmark by which 
investment performance is measured is the London Inter Bank Bid (LIBID) rate. The 2016/17 
average 7 day LIBID rate was 0.20% and the average 3 month LIBID rate was 0.31%. The 
actual return achieved exceeded both these benchmarks.

6.    Capital Financing Outturn

6.1 The overall level of borrowing costs was contained within budget provision as a result of the 
borrowing strategy adopted.. 

NEIL THORNTON

DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND CORPORATE BUSINESS

Page 29



6

Appendix 1

Prudential and Treasury Indicators

Prudential Indicators 2016/17 2016/17
Original Actual

£M £M
Capital Expenditure
  Non-HRA 64.8 57.0
  HRA 0.2 0.1
  Total 65.0 57.2

Capital financing requirement (CFR)
  Non-HRA 628.0 635.0
  HRA 1.5 1.5
  Total 629.5 636.5

Annual Change in CFR
  Non-HRA 23.4 17.7
  HRA 0.0 0.0
  Debt repayment provision MRP -21.8 -25.6
  Total 1.6 -7.9

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream % %
  Non-HRA 23.9 24.3
  HRA 2.2 2.4

Incremental impact of capital investment £ £
 Increase in band D council tax per annum 34.2 24.8
 Increase in average housing rent per week 0 0

Treasury Indicators
2016/17 2016/17

Estimate Actual
£M £M

Operational boundary for external debt
Borrowing 430.4 not exceeded
Other long term liabilities 30.0 not exceeded
Total 460.4 not exceeded

Authorised limit for external debt
Borrowing 530.4 not exceeded
Other long term liabilities 30.0 not exceeded
Total 560.4 not exceeded  

Page 30



7

The operational boundary limits for external debt reflect the estimate of the most likely, 
prudent, but not worst case, scenario without the additional headroom included within the 
authorised limit.

2016/17 current position
Limits on Interest Rate Exposure

Upper Limit on Fixed Interest Rate Exposure
100% Complied

Upper Limit on Variable Interest Rate Exposure

65% Complied

Maturity structure for fixed rate borrowing Upper Limit Lower Limit

Under 12 months 75% 0% Complied

12 and within 24 months 50% 0% Complied

24 months and within 5 years 50% 0% Complied

5 years and within 10 years 50% 0% Complied

10 years and above 100% 25% Complied

Variable rate debt maturing in any one year

75% 0% Complied

2016/17 Current
Upper Limit for Investments beyond 364
days

£40m £10m

Treasury Indicators

All Years

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Treasury Management Strategy and Budget        
                                                Strategy.

Page 31



8

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low

The monitoring and control of risk underpins all treasury management activities. The 
main risks are of adverse or unforeseen fluctuations in interest rates and security of 
capital sums.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Richard Holmes, Principal Solicitor, tel. 219 
6323

Regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 require the Council to 
provide a review of its treasury management activities each year for the previous 
year. Additional requirements are contained within the CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities, which are both taken into account for compliance as outlined in the 
report, which covers particularly the Council’s treasury position as at 31 March 2017, 
compliance with treasury limits and the Council’s investment strategy and outturn for 
2016/17.

The report highlights the existing policy of borrowing requirements using short-term 
loans to benefit from low interest rates, and states that all treasury management 
activity conformed to the Treasury Management Strategy which was approved by 
Council in February this year.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Tony Thompstone – Finance Manager Ext 
2016

Financial implications are included within the report.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

There are no Procurement Implications in this report.  

HR IMPLICATIONS 

There are no HR implications arising from this report
 

Page 32



9

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:

CONTACT OFFICERS:  

Paula Summersfield                      Tel No.  778 0214
Tony Thompstone                         Tel No.  793 2016

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: None specifically

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF 
Cllr Ferguson Lead Member for Workforce and Industrial Relations

TO 
Full Council

ON 
20th September 2017 

TITLE: 
Stonewall Diversity Champions and Employer Index Programmes 2017/18

RECOMMENDATIONS:

Full Council is asked to:

a) Support and champion equalities in the Council 
b) Support the Stonewall Programmes, the diversity of our staff and our aim to be a 

fully inclusive employer

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

Stonewall is a leading organisation nationally for  Lesbian, Gay, Bi Sexual and Trans 
(LGBT) inclusion. The Stonewall Diversity Champions Programme supports  
employers and empowers individuals  to make positive changes and to make a 
difference for staff at work.  The Stonewall partnership will enable us progress the 
workforce equality agenda. We will be able to deliver improvements for  our LGBT 
workforce and apply the learning to all of the protected groups. The Diversity 
Champions Programme priorities are to strengthen organisations strategically, inform 
and mobilise best practice and drive change through collective influence.

The Stonewall Employer Index will enable us to benchmark our current position and 
learn from best practice. We will be able to map our achievements and progress, and 
to use the feedback to inform organisational strategies and policy reviews. Stonewall 
will provide tailored support to plan for and implement change. This will help us to be 
the best inclusive employer that we can be.

What Stonewall will provide

1.1 The Diversity Champions Programme will provide Salford Council with 
expertise, support and guidance. We will have a dedicated Public Sector 
Account Manager and the opportunity to benchmark ourselves against leading 
employers through the Workplace Equality Index. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 11



2

1.1.1 Initially we will be seeking to review our current position with regards to Policy,  
Leadership and Monitoring. 

1.1.2 We are in the process of arranging a Raising Awareness Session and we will 
be promoting the programmes and  engaging and consulting with the  wider 
workforce whilst  developing the LGBT Staff Group. The session will focus on;

 Introduction to LGBT inclusion
 The business case for a council to engage in this work
 The experiences of LGBT staff and service users in the local government 

sector
 Raising Manager awareness around LGBT inclusion
 Some initial action planning – what people can practically do to start 

advancing this work.
 

2. Timing and next steps

2.1 We are working with the Marketing and Communications Team to develop a 
full communications plan and using a variety of methods to promote the  
Stonewall Diversity Champions Programme and the Workplace Employer 
Index, including a press release. 

2.2 We will be submitting a portfolio of evidence to support the Employer Index 
submission 8th September 2017. We are submitting a partial  application which 
the sections are Policy, Leadership and Monitoring.

2.3     We are hosting a Raising Awareness Session which will be facilitated by our   
          Stonewall Account Manager  The event is scheduled for 18th October, 11-1pm, 
          2017.

2.5   In January 2018 we will have top line information to work with which will 
highlight our gaps and priorities.

2.6 We will need manage activities via a steering group to work on the programme 
to complete the activities which will include;

 Developing recommendations 
 Implementing actions

3. Conclusions

3.1 It is expected that any organisation new to this process will receive a low 
workforce equality index score in their first year. However, we will be able to 
benchmark ourselves against other employers and have detailed advice and 
recommendations in order for us to move forward and create a truly inclusive 
workplace. The findings and recommendations  will be shared with Equal 
Opportunities Forum, HR, staff equality groups and schools for information / 
comments.

Page 36



3

3.2 Full Council  is asked to support the Stonewall Diversity Champion 
Programme and the Workplace Employer Index.

KEY DECISION: NO

DETAILS: Not Applicable

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Recruitment Policy, Maternity & Paternity Guidance, 
Creating Capacity Policy, Grievance Resolution Policy, Job Share Policy, Equal 
Opportunity Policy, Equality Strategy for Salford 2015

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

Magda Sachs, Principal Policy and Equalities Officer, 0161 793 3525

Equality (Community) Impact Assessments (CIA) are undertaken on all key workforce 
policies and practices. This programme will provide equality information on our 
workforce and identify good practice and areas that would benefit from development, 
and as such does not require a CIA. The programme will, however, provide important 
information that may be used for CIAs for potential changes to policies, practices and 
procedures that affect staff.

The Stonewall Diversity Champions Programme will enable Salford City Council to 
meet the statutory requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty, Equality Act 
2010. Salford City Council aims to have a workforce that reflects the diverse 
community of Salford, and to offer equality of opportunity in employment. We are 
committed to being an inclusive employer and to make informed decisions based on 
what our staff are telling us. 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 

LOW – risk is associated with non publication of equality data in accordance with the 
Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010).

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Mary Sutton, Head of Litigation and 
Employment Group, 0161 234 3465

As indicated in the report the programme will assist the Authority in meeting its public 
sector equality duty under the Equality Act. There are no adverse legal implications.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Stephen Thynne, Finance Manager, 0161 
778 0244 

The Corporate Management Team is asked to approve the Stonewall Programmes 
for 2017/18.  The annual cost is £2,500 and is funded from the Communities of 
Identity budget within the Strategy and Change team. It is also proposed that an 
action plan will be developed to address any areas of concern that are identified. It is 
important to ensure any actions are either deliverable within existing resources or 
appropriate funding is identified. Consideration should also be given to how this 
programme will be funded from 2018/19 onwards.  

Page 37



4

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Mary Sutton, Head of Litigation and 
Employment Group, 0161 234 3465

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Catherine Sharples, Strategic HR Manager, 0161 
607 8607

Salford City Council is committed to being an inclusive employer andaims to have a 
workforce that reflects the diverse community of Salford. The most recent  Workforce 
Equality Report indicates that 2.61% of the workforce identified as lesbian, gay or 
bisexual however Salford’s LGBT Needs Assessment established that Salford has a 
higher LGBT population than average for the UK (currently 5 – 7%).
At the current time there is no active LGBT staff group. The Stonewall programme 
will provide Salford City Council with expertise, support and guidance to work 
towards a truly inclusive workplace for people who identify as LGBT. This can then 
be built upon for other protected characteristics in line with our workforce equality 
action plan. 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Corporate Business, Children and Adult 
Services, Environment and Community Safety, Public Health and Commissioning, 
Regeneration, and Service Reform and Development.

CONTACT OFFICER: Magda Sachs TEL NO: 0161 793 3525

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All

Page 38



 

Report to Salford City Council 

Overview of Key Activities & Achievements 

September 16 – August 17

General 

 This period has been very successful in terms of visitor and participant numbers, attendance is broken 
down as follows:-

 Public revenue funding during the period was 5.7% of total income (1.7% Salford City Council, 4.0% Arts 
Council England). In addition the sum of £274k was received as a capital contribution from Salford City 
Council.   The extant 3-year funding agreement from Arts Council England runs until March 2018 and 
provides £800k of revenue support per annum.

 In 2014 we commissioned New Economy to undertake a major new report on the economic impact of 
The Lowry.  This reveals that The Lowry has an unmatched economic and cultural impact on Greater 
Manchester and the UK, delivering outstanding value for public money. Key highlights from the report 
are:-
o The original capital investment of £116million in The Lowry has leveraged an additional £1.4bn of 

public and private investment in Salford Quays;
o For every £1 of public revenue funding The Lowry generates £16.65 which is higher than national 

benchmarks for other public sector organisations;
o The Lowry contributes £29m per annum in gross value added to the national economy, 

corresponding to a total expected contribution of £239m over the coming decade.
o New Economy have further reported that the Economic Value of just two productions, War Horse 

and Wicked , was £21.3million 
o The conferencing and events operation continues to grow, with turnover showing an 18% year on 

year increase. The number of events, including weddings, increased by 12.5% on the previous year 
and delegate and guest numbers increased by 26%; this being in part due to the availability of new 
spaces following the capital redevelopment project completed in November 2015

o The Lowry continues to be a major employer in Salford and its activities support the equivalent of 
295 full-time jobs across the UK, the majority in the North West.

Attendance
Total Attenders 850,428
Theatre Attenders 522,456
Theatre Attenders (Salford)  96,419

Gallery Visitors 75,218
Learning & Engagement Participants  L&E participants: 30,901

School theatre attendance: 37,431
Our First Lowry: 176
Total: 68,508

Learning & Engagement Participants (Salford)  8,204
School theatre attendance: 5,300
Our First Lowry: 176
Total 13,680

Page 39

Agenda Item 17



 

 Total employees from Salford increased by 4% on last year. Direct employment figures over the period 
were:- 

 2016/2017 marked the first full financial year following the major capital project of 2015. The project 
saw a programme of capital interventions focussed on operational cost savings through a major energy 
efficiency project, and generation of additional income, through the expansion and redevelopment of 
our Hospitality offer. All aspects of the project were aimed at improving the sustainability of both the 
financial model and the organisation’s artistic ambition. As a result of financial improvements an 
annual Artistic Development Fund has been created to support the key strategic artistic objectives 
contained within the Business Plan. The sums generated in the latter part of the financial year 
2015/2016 were contributed towards the cost of the first of The Lowry’s Week 53 festivals held in May 
2017 which is planned to be a biennial event. 

 During the year the savings generated through the energy efficiency programme represented an 
average reduction of c20% on the previous two years, reducing running costs by c£90k. The work to 
expand and redevelop our hospitality offer added capacity to our bars, restaurant and conferencing 
and events spaces. 2016/17 saw a record high contribution from conferencing and events and an 
overall contribution from the combined hospitality operations of c£1.1m.

Theatres Programme 

 It’s been a tremendously successful 12 months across our three Theatres. We’ve hosted several major 
commercial productions – including Evita, a major new production of Wind in the Willows and Chitty 
Chitty Bang Bang at Christmas which played to audience of over 70,000 people.

 Our programme also showcased an amazing selection of International work including The National 
Ballet of China with the Peony Pavilion, Cape Town Opera with The Mandela Trilogy, Alvin Ailey Dance 
from America, Dublin’s legendary Gate Theatre, Danza Contemporanea de Cuba and an incredible 
performance of contemporary circus from Switzerland’s James Thierree.

 The Lowry Studio is now the leading venue for new writing in the North West - we presented over 200 
performances from young companies and performers from Salford and further afield. We also helped 
our Associate and Developed With Companies tour more productions to more places than ever before.

 In addition to our core programme of Signed, Audio Described and Captioned performances, we also 
presented a series of relaxed performances for audiences on the autistic spectrum, our first ever 
dementia-friendly performance and we also presented Home - a show specially created for people with 
profound multiple learning disabilities.

 During September 2016 we presented Paines Plough’s pop-up theatre Roundabout in Eccles – the first 
year of a three year relationship which will see us take high quality professional theatre into three 
different areas of Salford – presenting professional drama alongside comedy and community events.

 Families and young people remain a key priority – over the course of the year we presented 320 
performances of 41 different productions specifically targeted at families and young people with an 
audience of 187,575, an increase of 88% compared to last year.

 During the period we have continued to grow and develop Our Lowry scheme, our free and discounted 
ticket scheme exclusively for Salford residents. Membership of the scheme and usage is broken down 
as below:

Employment
Total number of Employees 458

Total number of Salford Employees 141
Total volunteer hours 23,332
Total volunteer hours (Salford) 6,311

Page 40



 

Breakdown of postcodes for those signed up to the Our Lowry scheme: Updated for 2016-17:

Postcode Ward Count % of Database

M 27 Worsley 4,541 21%
M  6 Langworthy 4,035 19%
M 28 Walkden South 3,292 15%
M 30 Barton 2,690 12%
M 44 Cadishead 1,754 8%
M  7 Broughton 1,539 7%
M  5 Langworthy 1,413 7%
M 50 Weaste and Seedley 1,209 6%
M 38 Little Hulton 519 2%
M  3 Ordsall 503 2%
WA 3 Cadishead 9 0%
M 29 Boothstown and Ellenbrook 8 0%
M  8 Broughton 4 0%
M 17 Langworthy 1 0%
Other 189 1%
Total 21,706

Total New Our Lowry Members 1,539
Total Our Lowry Tickets 20,888
Total Our Lowry Bookers 8,232

Quays Culture

 The Lowry continue to lead on the digital art outdoor programme Quays Culture. Now in its sixth year, 
this free public realm programme continues to attain public, artistic, media and strategic recognition.

 As part of this programme December 2016 winter event Lightwaves attracted 436,000 visitors over 10 
days of exhibiting 10 artworks, and May 2017 summer event Unnatural Borders a further 4,000 visitors.

 We exhibited international high quality artworks by 30 artists, involved 1,361 participants, achieved a 
broadcast audience of 1,500,000 (including BBC Breakfast) and for the first time two of our 
commissions were hired to be presented at other festivals in the UK and internationally.

Visual Arts

 The Lowry’s permanent display of the LS Lowry Collection has continued to be extremely popular with 
visitors and tourists from Salford and beyond, as well as schools and college groups.  We continue to 
negotiate new loans from major private and public collections and we are shortly to receive 2 
additional works via a bequest – Yachts 1912 (oil) and Group of Figures (ink on paper) c1950.

 August 2017 has been dedicated to Lowry Non-Stop: a programme of free, family, artist-led, drop-in 
visual arts, drama and dance activities in the Lowry Galleries every day of the month.  Combined with 
children’s productions in our Quays Theatre and Kids Eat Free offers in our Pier Eight Restaurant, Lowry 
Non-Stop has been designed to provide families with a complete offer in the summer holidays.

Page 41



 

 As part of The Lowry’s ambitious digital visual arts programme, we engaged one of the foremost digital 
studios in the country, Marshmallow Laser Feast, to create a new 7-minute artwork, combining robotic 
laser lights and a new soundscape.  This Week 53 commission was designed to be shown both shortly 
before selected performances in The Lowry’s 1700-seat Lyric Theatre and in regular free ‘black box’ 
presentations - exposing many of the thousands of theatregoers and visitors to their first experience of 
digital art.

 Amongst our flagship exhibitions has been Lowry at Home: Unseen Photographs by Clive Arrowsmith.  
In 1966 Arrowsmith was commissioned to photograph Lowry, and although a few of the resulting 
photos featured in the magazine Nova, the majority went into storage.  For this exhibition The Lowry 
recovered the ‘lost’ photographs and exhibited them in public for the first time. 

 Perpetual Movement featured new commissions from 4 artists, including Turner Prize nominee, Goshka 
Mazuga.  A collaboration with dance company Rambert, and funded with support from the Heritage 
Lottery Fund, the exhibition explored the crossover between contemporary art and contemporary 
dance, and featured regular dance performances in the galleries themselves.

 A new series of shorter contemporary projects and workshops saw new work from digital artist Dave 
Lynch, Islington Mill-based painter Rachel Goodyear, and London-based sculptor Paddy Hartley.  
Branded as Lowry Edits, these provided an excellent platform to support the making of new 
contemporary work within The Lowry itself, and brought contemporary artists closer to audiences by 
providing daily ‘drop-in’ opportunities for Lowry visitors to talk to and exchange ideas with the artists.

 Other exhibitions included HOME 1947, produced with and shown as part of the Manchester 
International Festival.  A new installation by Academy Award-winning filmmaker Sharmeen Obaid-
Chinoy, it reflected on the partition of India 70 years ago.  In addition, The Lowry mounted a display 
celebrating the work and significance of Islington Mill.

Learning & Engagement 

 The Lowry’s community outreach work continues to engage people from across Salford with a specific 
emphasis on young people. The Lowry continues to build on relationships with Neighbourhood 
Managers and work closely in partnership with local agencies in the city. During the period a number of 
outreach initiatives have been delivered across Salford, including:

Salford-wide: 

o Our First Lowry – this scheme targets Salford families with a child aged 5 or under and provides 
supported trips to see family friendly productions at The Lowry three times per year. In the first 
year of the scheme (15-16) 176 families were invited to attend three shows here at The Lowry, with 
the aim that they would become independent theatre goer once their involvement with the 
scheme had ended. 

o The first 2 visits were free of charge, and the final visit was a cost of £2.50 per ticket.
o All participants of the scheme are automatically enrolled in Our Lowry, so they continue to receive 

discount tickets and offers from the Lowry
o A total of 40 participants (23%) in Our First Lowry booked another event at The Lowry within a year 

of their involvement in the project ending (end Feb 15 to beginning Feb 16).
o 12 participants (8%) went on to book at least one family show or participatory family activity
o Moving into the second year of the scheme we now have 190 families signed up to the scheme. The 

first show will be Room on the Broom (Aug 17), the second will be The Gruffalo (Dec 17) and the 
third show it yet to be confirmed. 

Breakdown of postcodes for those signed up to Our First Lowry: Updated for 2016-17

Page 42



 

Postcode Ward Count % of Database
M  3 Cadishead 4 2%
M  5 Langworthy 17 9%
M  6 Langworthy 38 20%
M  7 Broughton 23 12%
M 27 Worsley 35 18%
M 28 Walkden South 29 15%
M 30 Barton 23 12%
M 38 Little Hulton 5 3%
M 44 Cadishead 13 7%
M 50 Weaste and Seedley 3 2%

190

o Free Tickets – we provide free tickets for selected performances to targeted groups in Salford. This 
year these groups have included City West Housing Association, Salford Young Carers and Adult 
Carers, local Primary schools, New Park High School, Oasis Academy, UTC Media City, Harrop Fold 
High School, Salford Loaves and Fishes, The Mustard Tree, Looked After Children and Care Leavers, 
Salford Foyer, Salford Young Parents teams, Next Step, Eccles Neighbourhood management teams, 
Little Hulton Neighbourhood management teams. These free tickets have given access to Salford 
children, young people, families and adults to a wide range of productions at The Lowry including 
musical theatre, dance, circus, drama and children’s theatre. 

o Children with disabilities and their families - we are now in our third year of the Booth Charity 
Family Scheme, which targets families in Salford with a child who has a disability. This scheme, 
funded by the Booth Charity, allows us to provide 3 free theatre trips and associated arts activity 
over the year for 20 families. We had 32 families in year 1, 27 families in year 2 and have worked 
with 32 families in year 3. The group have attended The Gruffalo’s Child, Chitty Chitty Bang Bang 
and Babe. The scheme offers families from Salford the opportunity to spend time together seeing 
theatre in a way that would not be possible without the support of this scheme.   

Central Locality (Ordsall/Langworthy/Weaste/Seedley/Claremont/Irwell Riverside/Broughton/Kersal):

o The Lowry has delivered a dance outreach programme in Ordsall, based at Oasis Academy for 
young people with an interest in dance as a way to remove barriers to accessing this opportunity at 
The Lowry itself. These young people took part in a series of high quality classes working alongside 
professional dancers and choreographers to make their own performance which they shared at The 
Lowry in July 2017. To continue this relationship The Lowry has also hired the dance spaces at Oasis 
Academy frequently throughout the year and also held its annual recruitment days for the Centre 
for Advanced Training in Dance there.

o We continued our work this year with young parents in Salford, working in Salford Foyer in Weaste, 
throughout the year to support young single mums to have access to free theatre tickets and the 
opportunity to take part in creative play workshops with their children. 

o We continue to work with Belvedere Sure Start Centre on the delivery of our Young Parents Project. 
The group have recently attended a number of performances and workshop opportunities 
throughout the year. 

West Locality (Little Hulton/Walkden/Worsley/Boothstown):

Page 43



 

o Through our employability programmes and young parents project The Lowry has mentored 
Melissa, a young parent living in Walkden to develop as an artist. This year she has successfully 
completed her Gold Arts Award (A Level equivalent qualification) which she also received a regional 
award for at Curious Minds Cultural Education awards.  Through this qualification Melissa set up 
her own theatre company, who she then directed to perform the Salford story A Taste of Honey in 
the Studio at The Lowry to a sold out audience. Melissa also shared this work at Roundabout in 
Eccles. 

o The Lowry delivered a 6 week dance and reminiscence project at St. Ann’s hospice in Little Hulton 
throughout the Spring of 2017. The project, delivered in partnership with international dance 
company Rambert, engaged older people with complex needs in regular dance activity that aimed 
to simulate memory and physical wellbeing. 

o A number of young people from Little Hulton and Walkden have been referred onto The Lowry’s 
YES Project (Youth Employability and Skills) this year. This scheme has provided them with long 
term work placements across the organisation including technical theatre, catering and front of 
house which aims to move young people onto employment or education. 

o We are working with a steering group drawn from the local community and supported by the 
Neighbourhood management team in Little Hulton on the delivery of Roundabout, a professional 
pop-up theatre, in St. Paul Peel’s Park in September 2017. The Lowry is working with the local 
community to develop a wider festival around the event. 

South Locality (Irlam, Cadishead, Winton, Barton, Eccles):

o The Eccles Neighbourhood team, Festival committee, Churches Together and the Yemeni Cultural 
Society amongst local dance and drama groups delivered and engaged in community engagement 
activities connected to Paines Plough’s Roundabout programme as part of Eccles Festival Sept 2016.

o We delivered a 5 month dance project with young people attending the youth group at Salford 
Academy between November 2016 and May 2017. Working in partnership with the Dance Touring 
Partnership and Birmingham Royal Ballet, the group took part in weekly contemporary dance 
workshops and trips to see Romeo and Juliet and Cinderella by BRB before performing in the Lowry 
foyer for the public, friends and family. The group and their families then attended the BRB 
performance. 

North Locality (Swinton/Pendlebury):

o We delivered a range of creative art activities in partnership with local organisations as part of 
Salford’s Big Day Out in Sept 2016; this was a great success and a pleasure to be a part of. 

o We continue to support a young single parent, Courtney, who is currently living in Salford Foyer to 
develop her employability skills and education opportunities. Courtney has now completed her 
Bronze Arts Award with The Lowry which has allowed her to successfully secure a place at college in 
Sep 2017 to undertake Maths and English. Having recently become a young parent, we are now 
supporting Courtney through both our Young Parents project and our YES scheme, where she is due 
to take on a work placement from September 2017. 

Key highlights from our Major Projects during the period were:

 Young Carers- The Lowry continues its 6 year partnership with Salford Young Carers Service to use 
arts and culture as a way for young carers to express themselves, for hidden young carers to become 
identified and to raise awareness of the issues they face. In November 2016 The Lowry produced and 
premiered Who Cares, a play which tells the real stories of 3 young carers from Salford. Based on a year 
of interviews with 4 young carers in Salford and their families, friends, teachers and local 
MP’s/councillors the work highlights the reality facing some young people who - often under the radar 
of social services, their schoolteachers and friends – provide care to family members with a physical 

Page 44



 

disability, an illness, a mental health issue or a drug or alcohol dependency. The play was premiered at 
The Lowry to an audience of 450 people from the local community including MP’s, Head teachers, 
youth workers, councillors and strategic decision makers. The play received a highly positive response 
and was awarded further funding to tour the play to 1,500 young people across 26 schools and youth 
clubs in Greater Manchester and the UK; telling the story of 3 brave Salford Young Carers. The play will 
also be shown at The House of Lords in December 2017.

 Looked After Children & Care Leavers- The Lowry is committed and passionate about its role in 
contributing effectively to the Care Leavers Covenant. The Lowry works closely with the Looked After 
Children’s Social work team, Next Step and the Virtual School to continue its commitment to children in 
the care of Salford to ensure that, as vulnerable young people in the city, they are given priority access 
to art and culture. This year 20 Looked After Children and Care Leavers from Salford have taken part in 
a creative programme at The Lowry which has engaged them in drama, music, beat boxing, spoken 
word and poetry as ways for them to develop their own skills and talents whilst also gaining 
qualifications, meeting new people, having weekly/consistent contact with positive role models in the 
form of artists/Lowry staff and having the opportunity to be given a platform and voice to make art 
which comments on the world they live in. 

 Young Parents- The Lowry continues to work closely with the Young Parents team and Teen Pregnancy 
Service in Salford to use creativity as a way to support young parents to develop confidence in 
parenting skills, play and storytelling to develop an early interest in reading. This year The Lowry has 
delivered a creative programme of activities in Salford Foyer with young single Mums and in Belvedere 
Sure Start centre and Little Hulton Sure Start centre with young parents. 

 Youth Employability & Skills (YES) Programme – The Lowry’s Youth Employability & Skills (YES) 
Programme is a high quality creative employability scheme which utilises the skills, talents & resources 
of The Lowry to engage with NEET / at risk young people, aged 14 – 25, from Salford. 

 Through our YES programme we provide bespoke creative and work-based learning opportunities for 
targeted young people. These opportunities range from first access visits, such as world of work 
backstage tours through to longer term work placements. We focus on personal development, building 
transferable skills including confidence, communication and future planning. Our YES projects and 
placements also focus on work related learning, equipping young people with practical skills and 
helping them to become work ready or progress onto other training. There are group opportunities, 
suitable for PRU’s, alternative education providers, access groups or other groups of young people who 
need additional support to engage in education, training or employment.

 This year we engaged with 342 young people from Salford through this programme. 15 of those young 
people who were not in employment, education or training or at risk of disengagement from education 
worked with The Lowry in a more intensive way by undertaking long term placements based in real 
jobs across the organisation. This year 90% of those young people moved into further education or 
employment following their involvement in the scheme, three of which were employed directly by The 
Lowry as members of staff following their training. 

 Through our Formal Education Programme we offer a full range of opportunities connected to the early 
years, primary, secondary, FE/HE curricula. Alongside Lowry-focussed visual art and drama workshops 
we offer a formal learning programme connected to our Theatres and Galleries programme as well as 
delivering bespoke opportunities. In June 2016 we worked with the Children’s Shakespeare Festival to 
provide engagement for 880 school pupils most of whom completed either a Discover or Explore Arts 
Award. 

 All Salford schools receive subsidised workshops every year and engagement is broken down as follows 
for the period:

Page 45



 

Julia Fawcett

1st September 2017

Formal Education
School pupils attending 15,281
Salford school pupils attending 2,391

Page 46



We are 
North West  
Employers.
We believe in thriving North West  
public services that benefit  
citizens, people and places.

We are with you when it matters.

Annual Summary 2016 / 2017

Priorities for 2017 / 2018
Page 47



We are a not for profit  
membership organisation providing 
an extensive range of advice, support 
and development opportunities to the 
41 local authorities and their partners 

across the North West and beyond.”
We are North West Employers 

North West Employers Annual Summary 2016 / 2017

Our key priorities and areas of expertise are:

People & 
Organisations
Working to ensure the 
right people with the 
right capabilities and 
behaviours are in place 
to help organisations be 
as effective as possible. 

Democracy & 
Governance
Supporting democracy 
and effective 
governance across 
public services. 

Innovating & 
Connecting
Bringing people together 
to connect, experiment, 
innovate, share best 
practice and implement 
new ideas.

Page 48



Our 2016 / 2017 summary

Last year we saw unprecedented changes in 
national and global politics and the impact on 
public services has been significant. Local 
authorities have had to be even more flexible, 
efficient, innovative and listen even more 
closely to the communities they serve.

We have worked hard to respond to the changing 
needs of our member organisations, and 
adapted our support at different regional 
levels and our core offer to individual member 
organisations.

We wanted to take this opportunity to share with 
all of our member organisations the work we 
have been doing to support you in achieving 
better outcomes with, and for, your local 
communities.

As we look ahead to our 100th birthday in a few 
years our key focus has been to build on the core 
purpose of the organisation and adapt for the 
future.

 
Our three priorities and areas of expertise are:

• People and Organisations

• Democracy and Governance 

• Innovating and Connecting

 
We respect and hold dear the very important 
role of an employers’ organisation and continue 
to support employers on key workforce issues, 
developing best practice and sharing intelligence. 

 
 

 
 
 
We have a comprehensive support offer to 
member organisations on a broader public 
service reform agenda.

Our leadership focus has been on developing 
a community of public service leaders offering 
innovative programmes that develop skills and 
provide opportunities to make connections across 
sectors.

We understand the important role that local 
councillors play and we have shaped our support 
to respond to the needs of lead members with 
responsibility for adults and childrens services, 
providing opportunities for councillors to work 
and learn together. We have invested time in 
researching and exploring the future roles of 
the 21st Century Councillor with Birmingham 
University to assist local authorities in supporting 
local councillors.

The next few years will be challenging for public 
services and our job is to continue to adapt and 
innovate to make sure our services add value to 
your work.

We would like to thank you all for your continued 
support and look forward to working with you to 
successfully navigate the changing landscape.

02

L I Z  M c Q U E 

Chief Executive, 
North West Employers

C O U N C I L L O R 
A L A N  D E A N 

Chair, North West Employers

Page 49



People &  
Organisations
Working to ensure the right people with the 
right capabilities and behaviours are in place to 
help organisations be as effective as possible. 

North West Employers Annual Summary 2016 / 2017Page 50



The HR leads across all the GM local authorities 
and others come together regularly to 
continue the development of a very successful 
collaborative approach to people solutions. The 
professional team at North West Employers are 
always supportive and ready to provide their 
expertise and intelligence on some of the key 
issues that we find ourselves grappling with 
and that helps shape our workforce priorities. I 
look forward to us continuing to work together 
over the coming year.”

D I A N N E  F R O S T 
Director of People, Oldham Council

33 North West local authorities are members 
of epaycheck and the epaycheck database 
grew  to 1843 workforce records, including 
607 chief officer records.

33

Undertook 112 recruitment psychometric 
assessments using our online portal.

112
Our specialist recruitment team ran 
17 assessment centres for senior manager  
roles including 5 for chief executives.

17

04

Supported 22 chief executives through 
a  range of dedicated development offers,  
including 360˚ feedback team development  
and coaching support.

22

Our dedicated hr advice line dealt with 
502 complex HR queries on a wide variety 
of employment issues.

502

42 mini surveys were carried out 
on behalf of our members.

42
Page 51



Delivered 150 bespoke in-house events across 
the North West attended by over 1800 delegates.

Designed and delivered 14 bespoke leadership 
programmes for our member organisations and 
their partners.

251
Facilitated 132 360° and 119 

MBTI feedback sessions.

150

14

Undertook 17 complex  
independent investigations.

17

North West local councils generated 200 
pay data records from epaycheck.

200

North West Employers Annual Summary 2016 / 2017Page 52



440
Designed and delivered a groundbreaking 
place-based leadership programme for 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
#LeadingGM attended by 440 leaders.

#LeadingGM

The work and support North West Employers 
provides in helping deliver the #LeadingGM offer 
has been vital. 

#LeadingGM is part of a programme of activities 
that together supports GM Leaders from across all 
sectors within GM to achieve the Stronger Together 
ambition. Its success will be in the engagement of 
individuals, organisations and places, which will 
be achieved through the sharing of ideas, insights 
and practice. This well established programme 
has, and is, continuing to deliver a range of 
fantastic opportunities to colleagues across Greater 
Manchester such as facilitating #LeadingGM 
Masterclasses and cohorts and supporting 
graduates and apprentices across all sectors. I look 
forward to continue working with them through this 
exciting time for Leaders across the region.”
C A R O LY N  W I L K I N S 

Chief Executive, Oldham Council

“ I feel proud to be pioneering 
the #LeadingGM leadership 
programme, this is a great 
opportunity both personally and 
professionally to practice adaptive 
leadership across GM.”
PA RT I C I PA N T 

#LeadingGM programme

“ The energy and enthusiasm of 
the 100 delegates at #LeadingGM 
was astounding. It was a privilege 
to come together with my peers 
in a way that has not before 
been coordinated or delivered in 
this way, and to learn from the 
collective experience of passionate 
leaders who helped me to think 
differently about change and even 
more positively about GM.”
PA RT I C I PA N T 

#LeadingGM programme

06Page 53



People & Organisations 
2016 / 2017 highlights

Our member organisations continue to show an impressive ability 
to adapt and reshape themselves and their services at pace. This 
shaped the profile of our support and capacity building work in the 
region throughout the year. 

New Organisation, Employment and Governance Models 
This year saw the preparations for, and implementation of, 
combined authority models with directly elected mayors and 
integrated care organisations. We have supported public service 
organisations to jointly develop Transition Plans for employment 
arrangements of statutory roles, shared roles, joint teams, 
secondments and staff transfer. 

New Roles, New Capabilities, New Career Pathways 
Identifying, developing and retaining the very best public service 
talent was a key challenge for all of our partners. Our involvement 
in national, regional and local work has advanced planning for 
securing the talent required for future public service leaders, staff 
and wider contributors capable of focusing improvements at a place 
and community level.

North West Employers Annual Summary 2016 / 2017

“Building on previous work, colleagues from the North West 
Employers has continued to provide support as we have developed 
a new organisational and leadership model that is able to provide 
both flexibility and resilience to support the transition and continued 
development of a fully integrated health and care system for adults.  
This involved specific direct work with myself and the leadership 
team across children’s and adults’ services to develop a model for 
an integrated People’s Services directorate and commissioning 
arrangements across all ages.”

J I M  TAY L O R 
City Director, Salford City Council

Page 54



08

Investigation and Dispute Resolution Services 
We have continued to deliver a trusted, independent investigation 
service that provides an objective report on complex circumstances 
where an external perspective or simply additional capacity is 
required. Associated services of mediation, management reviews to 
identify improvement opportunities and conciliation have broadened 
the support offer. This year we have supported senior leaders when 
dealing with extremely sensitive and complex employment issues. 
In addition to the in-depth employment expertise we have a real 
life understanding of the impact these investigations have on the 
organisation’s reputation and culture. 

Employer Intelligence 
We have added to our framework of regional investment to 
enhance on-line intelligence sharing, peer support and access to 
key data. The epaycheck sector pay benchmarking service has 
been supplemented by a HR peer contact platform (Basecamp) that 
supports regional, sub-regional, professional or project groups. The 
new platform is flexible enough to enable groups choose how to 
shape and manage collaborative activity.  

Recruiting the Best 
We have delivered value for money returns through continued 
investment in our online psychometric test bureau and the design 
and management of bespoke assessment centres for senior 
management recruitment.

Senior Job Evaluation Service and Support 
Last year we completed two extensive senior management review 
projects with almost 200 roles including, chief executives, directors 
and heads of service roles. We provide a cost effective solution that is 
tailored to the needs of public service organisations.

“The [LGA] Scheme was easy to grasp and helped 
the Council to demonstrate assurance that its 
senior pay scheme is effective, fair and transparent. 
Going forward job evaluation will play a key part in 
designing senior jobs and structures correctly, which 
will assist the Council to get the right people in the 
right jobs, and enable the delivery of our priorities.”

PAT  F E AT H E R S T O N E 
Head of Service Delivery, HR & OD, Manchester City CouncilPage 55



Developing Strategic Leadership Capacity Across HR and OD 
The Aspire Programme is aimed at Strategic HR/OD professionals 
who want to develop the business skills necessary to challenge 
and influence organisational direction and drive culture. We are 
delighted to have delivered two successful cohorts this year. The 
programme takes place over a six month period and includes 360 
degree feedback, modules and some project work. The programme 
culminates in a celebration event which provides the opportunity to 
showcase some of the latest thinking and research. The programme 
is led by the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development 
(CIPD), a key aim is to enhance self-awareness, build confidence and 
help individuals develop a strong personal profile within their own 
organisation and with their stakeholders.

Support for Asset Based Working across Greater Manchester 
We have supported developments in Greater Manchester 
to explore asset based working in practice. We have commissioned 
a report to understand and map where asset based approaches 
are being embedded as part of place based leadership work. The 
report highlights the different approaches and draws out 
the key ingredients for success. The report has made a 
significant contribution to the GM Health and Social Care 
Partnership’s future work. 

Support to Localities in Implementing the Workforce Strategy 
In partnership with the GM Health and Social Care Partnership, 
North West Employers has supported each of the ten GM localities 
to develop  a clear and consistent workforce strategy. We have 
supported workshops and facilitated discussions with national 
partners on key employment issues.

“Creative options & solutions to current HR 
issues that can realistically be taken forward.”
PA RT I C I PA N T 
Aspire Celebration Day

North West Employers Annual Summary 2016 / 2017Page 56



10

Developing Future Cross Sector Leaders 
Building on our regional  work to develop future public service 
leaders we are proud to share the continued success of the  
Emerging Leaders’ Programme which has been attended by 
delegates from local government, health, fire, police and the civil 
service. The programme content is refreshed on a regular basis and 
now includes a focus on commercialism. Organisation Raids take 
place across the sector to share best practice and learning. 

Building a Community of Collaborative 
and Reflective Leaders in the North West 
We have continued to support public sector chief executives in their 
leadership roles, facilitating opportunities for them to lead and 
learn together, including brokering mentoring support for new chief 
executives. 

Grow Your Own: Developing the Next 
Generation of Health and Care Leaders 
As the integration of health and care is now firmly on the top of 
everyone’s priority list, ensuring that we develop the next generation 
of leaders who can work across these disciplines is essential. 
Through our unique Grow Your Own programme (developed in 
collaboration with the Health Education North West workforce team) 
we brought together practitioners from across adults’ services, 
children’s services and public health to explore what it means to be a 
leader in health and care through a series of targeted masterclasses 
on areas including influencing, resilience and authentic leadership. 
The programme continues to be a success and there is now a 
growing network of over 400 leaders that have directly benefited 
from the programme.

Page 57



Democracy &  
Governance

North West Employers Annual Summary 2016 / 2017

Supporting democracy and effective 
governance across public services. 

Page 58



I find the North West Portfolio Holders’ 
meetings really useful in learning about 
how other authorities are handling the 
significant challenges we face in Adult 
Social Care. Sharing views on good 
practice and finding out approaches 
towards national policy and integration 
with health is particularly helpful.”

C O U N C I L L O R  PA U L  C U M M I N S 
Sefton Council

Continued to facilitate the portfolio holders’ 
networks sharing key policy updates and practice.  
Delivered two major joint leadership events 
for directors and portfolio holders of adults’ and 
childrens’ services.

2 more councils were awarded our 
Member Charter for excellent practice 
in developing their councillors.

Supported 11 councils in Northern 
Ireland to develop strategies to provide 
development for their councillors. 

2

2

11
“North West Employers have embraced 
a co-design approach with NILGA to 
innovative elected member learning in 
Northern Ireland. They are an essential 
part of our Charter and Charter Plus 
work with the 11 new councils here, 
not just in terms of accreditation and 
learning tools but also the crucial role 
we have of planning our sector’s long 
term sustainability and resilience.”

D E R E K  M c C A L L E N 
Chief Executive, Northern Ireland 
Local Government Association (NILGA)

12Page 59



Facilitated 60 councillor development 
and performance conversations.

Developing leading edge thinking 
and research with Birmingham 
University on 21st Century Councillor.

60

21st

Supported Leaders and Senior 
Councillors acting as the Independent 
Advisor for 13 Chief Executives.

Sharing thinking and practice on new 
governance arrangements. Major governance 
conference attended by over 80 delegates.

80

13
North West Employers Annual Summary 2016 / 2017

Cent.

Page 60



“North West Employers has been instrumental in bringing 
to life our vision for a Cabinet / Senior officer development 
programme. Supporting and advising us throughout 
the planning, implementation and evaluation of this 
hugely valuable piece of work, which has delivered 
tangible results. As well as vastly improving awareness 
and understanding across the organisation, I cannot 
recommend them highly enough.”

C O U N C I L L O R  S I M O N  B L A C K B U R N 
Leader, Blackpool Council

Supported council leader through facilitating 
cabinet development sessions  

We are trusted  •  We are innovative  •  We are connected  •  We are passionatePage 61



Democracy & Governance 
2016 / 2017 highlights

Working with local politicians to develop their skills has always 
been central to our work. Over the past 12 months we have been 
concentrating our efforts on working with councillors to develop 
a framework to equip councillors with the skills and behaviours 
required of 21st Century Councillors. 

Working with councillors on a daily basis we gain a unique 
insight into the roles and challenges councillors face and our 
governance work is an essential part of our work to support 
member organisations. Last year we worked with individual councils 
facilitating away days, development programmes and providing 
support to councillors.

Capitalising on our connections across the region we have 
invested in shared learning through our networks including, Portfolio 
Holders for Adults’ and Children’s services, Strategic Scrutiny and 
Councillor Development. 

21st Century Councillor Research 
Working with Birmingham University, last year we undertook a major 
piece of research to identify the future roles for councillors and the 
skills and qualities required. The 21st Century Councillor has made a 
significant contribution to the thinking across local government and 
we have supported local authorities to reshape and refresh their 
development programmes to be future focused.

Combined Authority Scrutiny and Governance Support 
We worked with two combined authorities to help them set up and 
review their scrutiny arrangements. This work involved looking at the 
current arrangements to identify what is working well and where 
improvements could be made to enable good governance and 
scrutiny in the evolving context of devolved powers.

“Learning is a treasure which 
follows its owner everywhere.”
PA RT I C I PA N T 
Oldham Elected Member Development ProgrammePage 62



16

Portfolio Holders for Children and Adult Services 
Through our dedicated networks service we brought together 
portfolio holders from across the North West to develop their skills 
and focus on improvement. Our aim is to provide time and space to  
engage with each other, as well as speakers from the Care Quality 
Commission, the Department for Education and NHS England. A key 
focus has been on service improvement and redesigning services. 
Taking a whole system approach we convened two major joint 
events for portfolio holders and directors.

Chief Executive Performance Appraisal Process 
We are privileged to be in a trusted role of Independent Adviser 
to chief executive appraisal panels across the region supporting 
leaders as employers. Last year we developed a chief executive 
feedback process to gather feedback from key partners to enhance 
the appraisal process. We are committed to supporting appointment 
panels to recruit and retain the very best chief executives. Our team 
understands the sector and provides high quality value for money 
recruitment support.  

Improving Scrutiny Practice and Review 
We worked with individual authorities across the region and the 
North West Strategic Scrutiny Network to help assess the ‘fitness for 
purpose’ of the overview and scrutiny function. We have also focused 
attention on the impact of new governance models and the impact of 
scrutiny including in-depth events to focus on: place based scrutiny, 
combined authority scrutiny and the governance of integrated care 
and commissioning organisations.

Sharing the Learning 
Our Councillor Development Network is thriving and provides 
an opportunity for councillors and officers from across the region 
to come together and work through their approaches to keep 
Councillor Development relevant and energised. Topics covered in 
the last year included induction programmes, succession planning 
and mentoring. We were also delighted to welcome colleagues 
from Northern Ireland councils to the network to support the 
Charter Award.

Page 63



North West Employers Annual Summary 2016 / 2017

Bringing people together to connect, 
experiment, innovate, share best practice 
and implement new ideas. 

Innovating &  
Connecting

Page 64



Facilitated 23 networking events 
attended by 413 delegates.

Over 100 people from more than 50 organisations 
attended the Festival of Strengths event.

Over 70 graduates from more than 
20 organisations attended the 
Welcome to the North West event.

413

We have increased our use of digital marketing channels 
and social media allowing us to share learning, practice and 
events with our 2400 followers instantly @NWEmployers.

2400

100

70
18

90
Our coaching network 
grew to over 90 members

70
Over 70 leaders experienced 
life in another sector

Interchange Sector Breakdown: 

31%  -  Local Government

23%  -  Police

27%  -  Health

19%  -  Other

“Working with North West Employers we 
have been able to improve the efficiency 
and effectiveness of sector led improvement 
approaches across the NW to improve 
business practices, develop professional 
skills set and more effectively share best 
practice in the very important area of 
childrens services and child safeguarding. 
There is a very strong partnership in the 
NW in this area of business and North West 
Employers, has been, and remain, 
a significant player in the partnership.”

D AV I D  PA R R 
Chief Executive North West Children and 
Young People Sector Led Improvement Board Page 65



Innovating & Connecting 
2016 / 2017 highlights

We place great importance on providing platforms and 
opportunities to network to enable our member organisations to 
achieve better outcomes for communities and maximise the impact 
of learning across organisational and professional boundaries. 

Practice Exchange Networks 
From childrens and adults workforce leaders to organisational 
improvement, and from schools HR to coaching practice, we provide a 
dedicated programme of quality networking events. These events allow 
delegates to celebrate great practice, work through current challenges 
and hear from regional and national expert speakers.  

Interchange 
Interchange is a platform for creating networked leaders across the 
region. Last year we continued to develop the collection of opportunities 
that will facilitate leaders to come together to share, learn and make 
a difference. Our ambition is for Interchange to become one of the key 
ways that leaders across sectors in the North West region can learn 
and lead differently through experiencing life in another sector. This 
year we have engaged a range of sectors and brokered shadowing 
opportunities, mentoring relationships and secondment opportunities 
and have extended the range of partner organisations.

Organisation Raids 
This year North West Employers implemented Organisation Raids which 
are interactive visits to organisations to raid them for their best ideas 
and practice. Our Emerging Leaders’ delegates went to MediaCity to 
learn about the BBC’s organisation transformation when relocating 
from the South to the North. As the BBC are a publicly owned body with 
a commercial arm, the cultural crossover with councils provided many 
useful insights and inspired lively discussions. A further highlight was a 
tour of the Blue Peter studio. North West Employers also raided Procure 
Plus to learn about early intervention and employment possibilities for 
the most disadvantaged. 

Welcome to the North West Future Leaders 
Attracting and retaining future leaders will be key to the growth of 
the North West and last year we delivered a major cross sector event 
for new graduates and future leaders in the North West The aim of 

North West Employers Annual Summary 2016 / 2017Page 66



20

the event was to build strong connections for people early in their 
leadership journey and to build a community of public service leaders 
equipped to move across sectors and understand the North West, 
in context. The event was supported by chief executives from the 
region who provided an insight into the challenges and opportunities 
presented by the devolution agenda.

Building Capacity for Reflection and Learning 
We have a long track record of investing in building skills and capacity 
that will benefit the sector and last year we continued our work to 
develop a number of action learning facilitators. Action learning is a 
powerful tool to provide peer support and insight on key leadership 
challenges, the training provides facilitators with the underpinning 
knowledge, support and skills practice. 

Basecamp 
North West Employers has invested in Basecamp, a platform which 
gives our physical networks a digital space to share information 
and strengthen connections. Groups cover themes such as HR, 
Organisation Improvement and Councillor Development and further 
networks are created as the need arises. Basecamp is available to 
any of our members which makes it easy to request information from 
other authorities and to store documents in a central, easily accessed, 
filing system.

Festival of Strengths 
Last year we delivered a major event working in partnership with North 
West ADASS and Cormac Russell, Director of Nurture Development. 
The focus of the day was to share and celebrate strength based 
approaches to community development. The event attracted delegates 
from a wide range of sectors and has been the springboard for a 
significant number of new programmes and connections. The focus 
of the day was to share inspirational stories and learning to assist 
delegates to develop a solid business case to back strength based 
working as a sustainable approach for the future. 

Connecting Sector Led Improvement 
The North West has had a strong history of developing sector led 
improvement support within professional areas. Key to this work has 
been creating safe spaces where peers can support and challenge 
each other and develop a sense of collective responsibility for each 
other’s performance. Two key areas are: creating resilient communities 
and reducing demand on services, governance and developing future 
leaders.

Page 67



The year 
ahead…

People & Organisations
Talent Development

• Develop a suite of support products to 
develop future talent e.g. assessment and 
development centres; 180 degree / 360 
degree feedbacks, situational judgement, 
mock interviews, practical scenarios

• Actively tailor our development offer to link 
back to outcomes from assessment centres

• Develop interventions across the North West 
to increase BME representation, undertake 
research on sustainable approaches and 
develop talent pipelines  

Rewards, Motivation and Engagement

• Undertake research on improving and 
measuring employee engagement 

• Work with stakeholders to develop a cost 
effective engagement tool to share learning 
and benchmark across the North West

• Support pay and rewards reviews and 
processes and develop case studies outlining 
different approaches 

• Expand senior managers’ job evaluation 
processes and broader offer to support 
integrated working 

New Organisational Structures

• Support new organisational models through 
tailored advice and support on organisational 
design and job evaluation

• Provide a range of support to leadership 
teams to develop a strong team culture in 
new integrated organisaitons

• Share learning across member 
organisations on the experience of 
establishing new organisational 
structures and integrated working 

Programme Development and Delivery

• Promote and embed asset based approaches 
through all our leadership events 

• Design a programme to develop regional OD 
capacity and capability

• Launch a NW leadership challenges 
roadshow  

• Expand our leadership talent development 
offer e.g. Aspiring Directors’ Programme

• Research and introduce a range of innovative 
activities to support learning and development 

• Launch e-learning through Learning Heroes 
offer to provide a flexible resource to member 
organisations

Democracy & Governance
Developing New Thinking 

• Building on 21st Century Councillor research 
undertaken in partnership with Birmingham 
University, develop and test a skills framework 
for local councillors

• Undertake three field test experiments to trial 
a new 21st Century  Councillor 360 feedback 
tool and skills audit

 
 

North West Employers Annual Summary 2016 / 2017Page 68



Sharing and Learning 

• Continue to provide networking and sharing 
opportunities for lead members for childrens’ 
and adults’ services

• Share learning on new governance 
arrangements through events and networks

• Improving practice through sharing leading 
edge practice through our networks for 
councillor development and 
strategic scrutiny 

North West Councillor Development Charter  

• Produce updated guidance and case studies 
on evaluating the impact of councillor 
development through the Charter Level 2

• Promote and celebrate good practice through 
an annual  showcase event

Development Support

• Provide a North West induction programme 
for new councillors to complement the 
council’s in house offer

• Explore accreditation/qualifications for 
councillors

• Support councils undertake individual 
personal development plans for councillors 
and produce a development plan 

Supporting Leaders

• Continue to support Leaders in their 
employers’ role acting as Independent 
Adviser for Chief Executives’ appraisal 
processes.

• Provide support to Cabinets to develop high 
performing political teams

• Develop new board development offer to 
support new governance arrangements in 
integrated care organisations etc

Innovating & Connecting
Networking 

• Continue to sustain our networks and build 
strong cross sector relationships by hosting 
the right conversations

• Provide multiple platforms for connecting 
across organisational boundaries and create 
virtual networks for knowledge sharing

Interchange 

• Continue to evolve and improve Interchange 
by building it into key leadership and 
development programmes (such as 
apprenticeships) and broker high quality 
cross sector opportunities

• Invest in digital technology to increase 
connectivity across sectors, facilitating 
shadowing, mentoring etc

Capacity Building

• Deliver the latest techniques and 
methodologies to build capacity within the 
NW improvement community e.g hackathon 
facilitation, street wisdom

• Evaluate the impact and return on investment 
for the capacity building programmes and 
identify costs saving for sector led support 
e.g action learning facilitation 

Innovation Exchanges 

• Develop an annual programme of  
innovation exchanges that showcase best 
practice that relate to our key themes and 
shape public sector thinking that leads to a 
change in practice

• Research and share intelligence - 
shape thinking across the region by 
identifying gaps in thinking or best 
practice in key areas of need

22Page 69



Suite 2.4, 2nd Floor, Building 8,
Exchange Quay, Salford Quays,
Manchester, M5 3EJ

0161 834 9362
www.nwemployers.org.uk

People & 
Organisations

Democracy & 
Governance

Innovating & 
Connecting

Page 70



82,63%

47,36%

2,2%Ship Inspections

No. of visually satisfactory ships 
No. of ships issued with an ERF
No. of visually poor ships 

Manchester Port Health Authority Achievements May – July 2017 

Ship Inspections

Manchester Port Health Authority (MPHA) undertakes inspections of vessels arriving on the 
Manchester Ship Canal. A risk assessment is used to identify ships that require inspection. 
Requests for visits are also received where the Captain requests MPHA to undertake work 
on behalf of the ship (the majority of this work is subject to a fee). 

During the period 284 ships visited the Manchester Ship Canal. 131 of these vessels were 
inspected by officers. These ships are inspected according to the WHO Handbook for 
Inspection of Ships and Issuance of Ship Sanitation Certificates. Following this visual 
inspection 2 ships were deemed to have extremely poor standards on board, requiring 
significant improvement, and 47 ships required further action to be taken in order to meet the 
required standard. 

Total Ships visited in period 
May-Jul 131

No. of visually satisfactory ships 82

No. of ships issued with an 
Evidence report Form 47

No. of visually poor ships 2

No. of Ship Sans issued 19

Water Samples 

Ships water systems are extremely complex and water is stored for extended periods of 
time. When not managed correctly, water can pose a risk to the health of the crew and 
visitors  through the transmission of pathogens. It is also a legal requirement for ships to be 
provided with water that is safe. MPHA undertake sampling in order to ascertain the status of 
water on board and to facilitate the ships crew in demonstrating that their water systems are 
being effectively managed. 

Drinking Water Samples

During the period May – July 2017 59 water samples were taken from 29 ships in order to 
determine the bacteriological quality of the water. These samples are tested for coliforms, 
enterococci and e-coli along with aerobic colony count. Of these samples 45% were deemed 
unsatisfactory and required further action. 

Total Samples 58

Page 71



12,41%

4,14%

13,45%

Bacteriological Samples May - Jul 2017

Bacteriological Pass 
Bacteriological Borderline 
Bacteriological Fail 

8,14%

5,9%

44,77%

Legionella Samples May - Jul 2017 

Legionella Pass Legionella Borderline Legionella Fail 

Total sample sets 29

Bacteriological Pass 12

Bacteriological Borderline 4

Bacteriological Fail 13

Legionella Samples

Legionella bacteria are the cause of legionellosis including legionnaires’ disease which can 
be fatal. Due to the nature of ships water systems, legionella control techniques must be 
implemented to minimise the risk to crew members and visitors. During the three month 
period 165 legionella samples were taken from 57 ships. 77% of these samples were 
unsatisfactory due to the presence of legionella bacteria and required a full system review. 

Where samples are returned as unsatisfactory contact is made with the ships Master and 
agent to provide advice and guidance on the action to be taken to reduce legionella to within 
acceptable levels. A certificate is provided stating that the analysis results were 
unsatisfactory. This will be looked at by the Next Port Health Authority and will be actioned 
appropriately. Where a ship enters the port with unsatisfactory water sample analysis, further 
samples will be taken and where appropriate an Evidence Report form or Ship Sanitation 
Control Certificate will be issued.

Through working closely with York Public Health England (PHE) Laboratory the Authority 
has gained permission to widen the sampling protocol for legionella in order to provide 
evidence as to the extent of the colonisation of water systems on non-passenger vessels. 
The results of this study have established a need for further investigation and alerted the 
wider PHE to the problem. Results from this sampling have since been fed into a UK wide 
study on the colonisation of water systems and as a consequence a paper was published by 
the University of Cambridge. As a result of this, a decision has been taken by PHE to work 
alongside the Maritime Coastguard Agency (MCA) to change UK Guidance, clarifying the 
requirement for ships to be sampled for legionella at least annually. 

(https://www.researchgate.net/publication/311087405_High_prevalence_of_Legionella_in_n
on-passenger_merchant_vessels ).

Total samples Taken 165

Total Samples Taken 
(Sample Set) 57

Legionella Pass  8

Legionella Borderline 5

Legionella Fail   44

Page 72

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/311087405_High_prevalence_of_Legionella_in_non-passenger_merchant_vessels
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/311087405_High_prevalence_of_Legionella_in_non-passenger_merchant_vessels


3,7%

43,93%

Total Galley Swabs 2016 - 2017 

Total number satisfactory Total number unsatisfactory

Galley Hygiene Swabs 

MPHA recently participated in a joint study with Public Health England in order to assess 
hygienic practices on non-passenger carrying ships (Jan – June 2017). Although there has 
been research conducted on board cruise ships and ferries, there is no data available on the 
microbiological status of non-passenger ships. The study was conducted through the use of 
swab samples (SpongeSicle swabs). 

Environmental sampling has been shown to be a valuable tool to verify that hygienic 
practices are being used during food preparation. The sampling results will also provide a 
better understanding of the risks from poor hygienic practices and will enable port health 
officers to develop better guidance to assist ships crews. 

The swabs were analysed to identify common indicator organisms. Indicator organisms are 
organisms that are usually present in very large numbers in environments inhabited by 
pathogens. These include the Enterobacteriaceae family, many of which live in the intestines 
of humans and animals and incorporate coliform organisms and Escherichia coli (E.coli). 
Evidence of E.coli in samples indicates recent faecal contamination. 

Of the 222 ships sampled 130 (93%) were unsatisfactory due to the presence of high levels 
of bacteria.

As a result of the Galley Hygiene project MPHA has developed better guidance on cleaning 
and disinfection (available in different languages) and is allocating more time during 
inspections to ensuring that ships cooks understand how to clean effectively. Where 
required, ships are being issued with Ship Sanitation Control Certificates and/or Evidence 
Report Forms to remedy poor compliance. 

Galley Hygiene 
Swabs 

2017

Total number of 
samples taken

222 / 46 ships 

Total number 

Unsatisfactory *

130 / 43 ships

*per sample set

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Salford City Council Meeting – 11 September 2017

Introduction

1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Council meeting with an overview of 
the key business issues which the Board of Salix Homes has revised and agreed 
in recent months.

Key Issues

2. Fire Safety

The Board have received multiple updates on the actions taken by Salix Homes 
since the Grenfell Tower disaster in June. In total Salix has 18 tall buildings, of 
which eight have been refurbished using ACM cladding material. The final tests 
by DCLG replicated five of the eight blocks have been determined as non-
compliant. The position for all eight affected blocks is as follows:

 Magnolia/Mulberry/Sycamore – non-compliant, use of feature ACM 
panels that Salix Homes will look to replace;

 Newbank/Riverbank – non-compliant, use of feature ACM panels that 
Salix Homes will look to replace;

 Blackfriar Court – ACM panel already removed. Options to refinish 
balconies being explored; and

 Canon Hussey/Arthur Millwood – non-complaint. Extensive use of 
ACM panels and a priority to replace.

The other 10 blocks do not have ACM cladding systems and the safety of the 
cladding system on these blocks is not in question.

Members have discussed at length the possible costs of the additional safety 
patrols, improvement works following audits with GMFRS and the 
replacement cladding systems.  A figure in the region of £3/5M could be 
expected.  

3. Progress Against the Offer Document

The Board was given an overview of progress against the promises and 
commitments within the Offer Document.  The Officers gave feedback from the 
last quarterly meeting with the Council where these are monitored in detail.  It 

Page 75



was noted that all the promises are being delivered and that Salford City Council 
are satisfied with progress.

4. Canon Green Investment Plans 2017/20

Members have considered the new re-development proposals, which included 
an additional standalone block within the grounds of the scheme, for Canon 
Green Court. The Board was pleased that Salix Homes had taken customers’ 
views into account, and re-development is hoped to start on site by May 2018.

Members agreed to release funding to develop the next steps in taking the 
scheme through to the planning submissions stage.

5. Joan Lestor House

The Board approved the acquisition of Joan Lestor House from the Guinness 
Partnership at a consideration of £10,000 plus the assignment of the existing 
£800k grant attached to the property.

Options are still open as to its use, however the preference will be for general 
needs accommodation.

6. Development Opportunities

Members have been informed of the refurbishment of Alexander Gardens as a 
potential key worker accommodation in conjunction with Salford Royal NHS 
Trust to help address the lack of affordable property in Salford, which is 
having an impact on recruitment and resulting in significant healthcare 
vacancies. A specific allocation policy would be required for this type of 
scheme.

7. Customer Service Charter

The Board approved the final draft of the Customer Service Charter and the 
performance measures to ensure the commitments to customers are being 
delivered against target. 

The Customer Service Charter has been developed in consultation with the 
Customer Excellence Panel who considered several customer charter 
examples from both within the housing sector and wider public service 
organisations. In addition, the proposed Customer Service Charter has been 
developed taking into account feedback from the annual customer satisfaction 
survey and Institute of Customer Service Customer survey.

8. Pension Scheme Review & Consultations

During the year Board has considered and agreed to close the GMPF to new 
employees from April 2017. New employees of Salix Homes auto-enrol into a 
“Flexible Retirement Account” with Friends Life who are part of the Aviva 
Group.

Page 76



9. Tenancy Management Organisations (TMO’s)

The Board has overseen the review of the management agreement with the two 
TMO’s that manage Salix Homes properties on its behalf. These negotiations 
have progressed satisfactorily and are now at a stage for signing.  

10. Beechfarm Update

Onsite works to Phase 1 are progressing well with the first handovers scheduled 
to take place on Monday 2nd October 2017.  The anticipated completion date for 
the entire phase remains at 22nd November 2017.

Phase 2 site preparation and disconnection works have commenced with 
possession of sub-phases 2a and 2b handed to the contractor.  Demolition will 
commence on completion of the disconnection and asbestos survey / removal 
works.

Work continues to assemble the remainder of the site and although there has 
been a slowdown in the decant process over recent weeks 63 households have 
been rehoused / decanted, which includes the acquisition of 12 privately owned 
properties.  Terms have been agreed for the acquisition of a further 10 of the 
remaining 15 private properties.  Salford City Council have issued formal notices 
regarding the making of the Compulsory Purchase Order to support the site 
assembly process if agreement cannot be reached with the remaining 5 private 
owners. 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



AGM 2016
CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

@NorthWestRFCA NorthWestRFCA

Page 79



2 AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association

Introduction
I have now completed my second 
year as Chairman of the North 
West of England and the Isle of 
Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ 
Association and I remain amazed, 
as ever, by the quite excellent 
work that has been undertaken by 
the Association – both from the 
salaried staff and all the volunteer 

members of the Association 
who unstintingly give of their 
time freely to further the outputs 
of NW RFCA in supporting the 
community of Reservists across 
the three Services, Cadet Force 
Adult Volunteers and the young 
cadets throughout the North West 
of England and the Isle of Man. 

Colonel Nick 
Williams, 

Chairman, 
NW RFCA

took place last summer.  As a result 
of “catastrophic success” through 
recruiting, NW RFCA was tasked 
with providing the infrastructure 
to allow the Reservists to train 
– mainly midweek but also at 
weekends.  With some very 
nimble footwork and with the 
grateful support of the Armed 
Forces Champion (who is also 
the Minister of Home Affairs) and 
the Honorary Colonel of the Isle 
of Man Army Cadet Force, there 
is now a dedicated Army Reserve 
Centre in Douglas. 

FR20 Basing/Disposals
Further to last year’s report, 
work has continued to action the 
directions arising out of the FR20 
announcement.  The main aspects 
of work include:

(Re)Basing:
•	 6 MI Bn & HQ Coy and 842 Sig 

Tp (33 Sig Sqn 37 Sig Regt) - 
Norman Road, Manchester: 
The formation of 6 MI Bn and 
HQ Coy has been completed in 
Norman Road, Manchester. All 
works to the main building and 
garage area are now complete 
and have been handed back to 
the respective units. The new 
miniature rifle range is in place 
and the subsequent internal fit 
out works has been completed. 
The project cost £1.6 million.

•	 156 Regt RLC LAD and 125 Fd 
Coy (101 Bn REME) – Mather 
Avenue, Liverpool: Formation 

The Association remains heavily 
focussed on furthering the 
implementation of the Future 
Reserves 2020 (FR20) programme 
– the rebasing of North West 
Reserve units, including the 
disposal of various sites, the 
new relationship with employers 
in the region driven nationally by 
the MOD’s Defence Relationship 
Management organisation, and 
the new legislation affecting 
Reservists (and as we move 
forward it is hoped to include Cadet 
Force Adult Volunteers) and their 
employers.  As I mentioned last 
year all this takes place against the 
backdrop of the commemoration 
of the centenary of the First 
World War, placing the Armed 
Forces at the centre of our local 
communities.  I am also pleased 
to see that the recommendations 
from the Paterson Report 
which I highlighted last year 
are being worked through and 
all 13 associations are working 
collegiately with three main 
outputs: Cadets & Youth, 

Infrastructure and Engagement 
being the RFCAs’ core outputs 
across the United Kingdom.  You 
will read on the following pages 
updates on these various strands 
of outputs as well as the other 
parts of the association that are 
either viewed as our jewels in the 
crown – Altcar Training Camp and 
Holcombe Moor or our successful 
Alternative Venues team that are 
working wonders to raise money 
that can be ploughed back into 
supporting the Reserve Forces 
and Cadets within the region. Our 
communications work is extremely 
effective and our finance team 
have been instrumental in keeping 
us all on the straight and narrow 
when the budget in year was a shy 
under £20m.

The staff remain flexible and 
as passionate as ever and an 
excellent example of quick and 
fast work was the creation of the 
Army Reserve Centre on the Isle of 
Man where after a HQ 42 Inf Bde & 
HQ NW initiative a recruiting surge Page 80



The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 3

of 125 Fd Coy (from 156 Regt 
RLC Light Aid Detachment) 
forming up in Mather Avenue, 
Liverpool.  Following a visit 
from Regional Command in 
September last year, a revised 
scope of works was agreed 
and costed – a reduction from 
last year’s projected figure of 
£750k. NW RFCA subsequently 
received £140k to carry 

Green, Manchester into Belle 
Vue Street, Manchester.  
Following a visit from Regional 
Command in September last 
year a revised scope of works 
was agreed and costed. NW 
RFCA subsequently received 
£550k to carry out works to 
provide additional ablutions, 
new offices and classroom 
space and a new dedicated 
gymnasium in the existing 
garage area. Works are 
expected to start in June with 
a completion in late September 
this year.

•	 4 LANCS Inf Band & A Coy 
(Anti Tk Pl) Alamein Bks, 
Huyton, Liverpool: Move of 4 
LANCS Band and A Coy Anti 
Tk Pl from Townsend Avenue, 
Liverpool into Alamein Bks, 
Huyton, Liverpool.  Whilst the 
proposed lay-down plans have 
been agreed by both COs, 
there still remains a doubt over 
the proposed move due to a 
challenge by CO 4 LANCS. 
NW RFCA are currently in the 
process of carrying out pre-
tender estimates to provide 
new office space and a new 
dedicated band practice area 
in the existing garage complex. 
All costs will then be submitted 
to Regional Command through 
HQ 42 Inf Bde & HQ NW.  NW 
RFCA are working on the 
assumption that the move will 
take place as directed under 
FR20 orders.

out works to provide a new 
dedicated gymnasium in the 
existing garage area. Tenders 
were returned on the 27 April 
and work commenced last 
month. The completion of the 
project is due in August 2015.

•	 D Coy 4 LANCS and 209 Bty 
RA (103 Regt RA) - Belle Vue 
Street, Manchester: Move of 
D Coy 4 LANCS from Ardwick 

Page 81



4 AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association

•	 B Sqn 208 Field Hospital 
Stanney Lane, Ellesmere 
Port, Chester: FR20 basing 
announced the move of B 
Sqn 208 Fd Hosp into Chester 
and the subsequent closure 
of Stanney Lane. The move 
was challenged by NW RFCA, 
HQ 42 Inf Bde and 2 Med Bde 
and a decision has now been 
made to keep the current Army 
Reserve Centre open and not 
vacate, with a further review 
taking place in December 2016 
by DIO/HQ Army to ascertain 
any future move. To further 
sweat the assets and to give 
a recruiting base, out-with the 
FR20 direction, a platoon of 
B Coy 4 MERCIAN are now 
parading at Stanney Lane 
ARC.  This proposal was fully 
endorsed by NW RFCA and 42 
Inf Bde.

Disposals:
•	 Ashton under Lyne, Old 

Street – In January 2016 NW 
RFCA met with a number of 
members from the ‘Armoury 
Old Boys Association’ who 
submitted proposals to take 
on full management of the 
site as a Trust. Included in the 
proposal is the ability to retain 
both ACF and ATC units on 
site. All overhead costs will be 
met by the Trust. They plan 
to encourage the use of the 
site by the local community. 
Negotiations are ongoing, and 
if the project comes to fruition 
then the site will be managed 
by the Trust for up to 5 years 
(with a break clause) before the 
site is formally “sold” by the 
MOD.  

•	 Crewe Army Reserve Centre, 
Myrtle Street – D Coy 4 
MERCIAN and Crewe ACF Det 
have both now vacated the site. 
A meeting between NW RFCA, 
HQ 42 Inf Bde and D Coy 4 
MERCIAN took place in early 
January this year and it was 
agreed that no disposal would 
take place until NW RFCA 
received notification from DIO 
to proceed.

•	 Townsend Avenue Army 
Reserve Centre, Townsend 
Avenue – A Coy 4 LANCS & NW 
Inf Band would be remain at the 
site, until funding was received 
and works were completed 
at Alamein Barracks (Huyton 
see above). No disposal will 
take place until NW RFCA 
receive notification from DIO to 
proceed.

•	 Ardwick Green Army Reserve 
Centre, Charlton Place – D Coy 
4 LANCS will remain in-situ until 
all works at Belle Vue St are 
complete.  This is estimated to 
be around September this year. 
Preliminary works have taken 
place to ascertain potential 
suitors for purchase of the site.

•	 Crown Gate Barracks, Runcorn 
- Costs for a full investment 
appraisal to explore all options 
including disposal and re-
provision for the current SCC, 
ACF and ATC units have been 
submitted to the DIO; we await 
funding.

•	 Ubique Barracks ARC, Widnes 
– The site will remain open and 
not vacate as announced in 
2014, noting a further review 
will take place in 2018.

Page 82



The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 5

Infrastructure
The Reserve and Cadet Estate in the North West comprises 
some 270 properties, including the Naval Regional 
Headquarters, 41 Army Reserve Centres and cadet huts 
belonging to the Army Cadet Force (ACF), Air Training Corps 
(ATC) and Combined Cadet Force (CCF).  These properties 
support the work of some 425 units of the regular forces, 
reserve forces and cadet organisations.

Key areas of work in the past year have included: FR20 
rebasing, which you will have seen in the Chairman’s 
introduction; new facilities for RMR Manchester 
Detachment; new joint cadet centres; the response to the 
winter storms; investment at Altcar Training Camp; and 
the introduction of leading edge technology through our 
Unmanned Aerial Systems.

Councillor 
Les Byrom, 
Chairman, 

Property 
Advisory 

Board

of NW RFCA. The detachment is 
also benefitting from a new regain 
rope course, external climbing wall 
and mortar training pit. The cost of 
this redevelopment was £1.1m.

These projects illustrate the 
strength in depth of the NW 
RFCA Infrastructure Department 
to be able to work with Defence 
and industry partners to 
deliver ambitious and effective 
programmes to satisfy the needs 
of the single Services and units in 
our region.

Joint Cadet Centres
The new Joint ACF/ATC Cadet 
Centre projects suffered from a shift 
in priorities but have now resumed 
progress towards completion.  
Two of the centres, at Crosby 
and Knutsford, are scheduled for 
handover this summer with another 
2 (Leigh and Heywood) having 
received planning permission.  The 
last 2 (Rochdale and Nantwich) are 
still awaiting a decision from local 
authorities.

FR 20 rebasing & RMR 
Manchester
You have already read that the 
1.6m project to allow 6 MI Bn & 
HQ Coy and Sig Det 37 Sig Regt 
to co-locate on the site at Norman 
Road Manchester was completed 
on-time and on-budget.

Works to provide new training and 
office area for RMR Manchester to 
the existing garage infrastructure 
at Haldane Barracks, Salford is 
now complete. The site is now fully 
occupied with just some latent 
work around the installation of 
DII terminals and telephones still 
awaited; these sit outside the remit 

The new Joint ACF/ATC Cadet Centres

£1.6m project to allow 6 MI Bn &  
HQ Coy and Sig Det 37 Sig Regt to  

co-locate at Norman Road, Manchester

Page 83



6 AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association

Winter Storm Response  
Six sites across the NW RFCA 
estate were affected by storms 
‘Desmond’ and ‘Frank’ in 
December 2015 and January 2016. 
The Infrastructure Department took 
decisive leadership in responding 
to the impact of these natural 
events, gaining praise from many 
users in the affected areas.  A bid 
for £513k was submitted to DIO 
for all clean out and remediation 
works and £500k was quickly 
allocated by DIO.  

Of the 6 affected sites, Lancaster 
Army Reserve Centre, which 
suffered flood damage to heights 
of 3.5ft in most places and 
Kendal Joint Cadet Centre which 
experienced flood damage to 4ft 
along with a heavily damaged 
miniature rifle range were the worst 
affected.  Damage remediation to 
these 2 sites alone cost £440k.

English Damside (the county 
stores of Cumbria ACF HQ), 
Wigton ACF Det, Broughton ACF 
Det and Inskip CTC were the other 
affected locations.  The cost to 
restore these facilities was £56.5k.

Altcar Training Camp
As demand has continued to 
increase for both range access 
and accommodation at Altcar, so 

has our programme of investment 
in this strategic, NW RFCA 
owned facility.  In the last year, 
our completed projects have 
included the following: Hunters 
Hall (cookhouse extension), 
the new range Troop Shelter, 
Floodgates 1 & 2 (conversion to 
accommodation), Sefton Mess 
(internal refurbishment), Obstacle 
Course (refurbishment), Shapter 
Hall (new gymnasium roof), ESH 
Armoury (electrical upgrades), 
Building 37A & 37B (new Toilet 
Block) and road resurfacing.  
Funding for these works totalled 
around £508k.

Unmanned Aerial Systems 
As the first association to take 
advantage of the incredible 
possibilities offered by the use 
of Unmanned Aerial Systems 
(drones), NW RFCA have taken 
a national lead in the integration 
of new technology into our daily 
working life.  These systems, 
comprising a remotely piloted 
aircraft with a powerful video and 
still image camera, allows us to 
capture images of roofs and other 
elevated features without the 
expense and inconvenience of 
erecting scaffolding or hiring cherry 
pickers.  Identifying or confirming 
issues at height is therefore 

much safer and quicker than was 
previously possible and we also are 
building up a record of the estate 
that can identify trends over time.

The system will also be put to 
good use in capturing images and 
video for communications and 
marketing purposes.

Isle of Man
Almost half a century after the 
closure of the island’s last military 
unit and following the success of a 
recruiting initiative to establish an 
Army Reserve Centre on the Isle 
of Man, NW RFCA signed a lease 
with the Isle of Man Government 
in September 2015 to occupy the 
first floor of the IOM’s Office of 
Fair Trading building, formerly the 
Hanover Street School.  

Refurbishment and renovation 
work was scoped out and 
contractors engaged without 
delay and the building was handed 
over in time for 30 newly recruited 
Reservists, all Manx men and 
women, to take their first parade 
during a flag-raising ceremony 
at the premises in Douglas on 1 
October last year.  

This agility and speed of response 
is a key benefit and unique 
selling point for our Infrastructure 
Department and allows us to take 

NW RFCA’s new Unmanned 
Aerial Systems

Damage to Alexandra Barracks, Lancaster, as a result of flooding  
in December 2015

Completed 
projects 
at Altcar 
Training 

Camp 
include an 

extention to 
Hunters Hall 

and a new 
gymnasium 

roof for 
Shapter Hall

The new Army Reserve Centre Douglas, 
Isle of Man

Page 84



The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 7

on works and projects that other 
publicly funded organisations 
would not be able to deliver. 

Minor New Works FY 15/16
In May 2015 NW RFCA received 
funding of £538K to carry out 32 
projects across 24 sites.  This 
work was a mix of both minor 
new work requests from individual 
units and unfunded items from 
last year’s betterment bid. 
Examples of some of the works 
include:  new LED lights to 3 Army 
Reserve Centres, installation of 
electronic presentation equipment 
to classrooms, new gymnasium 
at Fox Bks, refurbishment of 
Junior Ranks Club at Aigburth 
Road Army Reserve Centre and 
Lancaster Army Reserve Centre, 
installation of new suspended 
ceilings at Kings Road Army 
Reserve Centre and Bidston Road 
Army Reserve Centre.

All projects were completed within 
budget by 31 March 2016.

Late Injection Funding
NW RFCA received funding of 
£551k in February 2016 for a 
number of projects across the 
Estate. All works were funded in 
year although some works are 
ongoing. Examples include:

•	 Installation of new electronic 
gates and CCTV to 15 ARC’s:

•	 Fox Barracks ARC - Refurb of 
classrooms

•	 Haldane Barracks ARC - Roof 
repairs to front elevation 

•	 Upper Chorlton Rd ARC - New 
porch and doors to Main ARC 
Building

•	 Kimberley Barracks ARC - 
Refurbishment of Ablutions

•	 Bolton ARC - Refurbishment of 
caretakers flat

•	 Jubilee Barracks ARC - 
Refurbishment of caretakers 
flat

Preventative Maintenance 
FY 15/16 & FY 16/17 
NW RFCA received an allocation 
of funding for preventative 
maintenance in FY 15/16, and the 
direction from CRFCA was that it 
was to be spent on the ACF Cadet 
Estate.  Under this directive the 
following projects were completed 
in year:

External redecoration and external 
repairs of a large number of ACF 
Cadet Centres.

Installation of electronic heating 
thermostats to all Cadet Centres 

thus resulting in a significant 
reduction in electricity costs.

For FY 16/17, CRFCA have 
received notification from DIO 
that they were unsuccessful 
in receiving an allocation for 
preventative maintenance across 
the reserve/cadet estate. The 
implication of this is that the risk 
of future repairs is increased, 
as essential maintenance of the 
building is not being carried out; 
for example, no gutter cleaning 
programme could lead to water 
ingress into building and lack of 
redecoration could lead to rotten 
timbers. 

Reactive Maintenance FY 
15/16 & 16/17  
In the last FY we spent £1.042m 
(after in year injections) across the 
estate on reactive maintenance. 
This budget was still not sufficient 
for the NW RFCA to carry out all 
works submitted and an injection 
of funding was required from 
Regionally Generated Income 
to ensure we could complete all 
critical and urgent works in year. 
Therefore, as in previous years, 
as a result of underfunding we 
carried forward a ‘bow wave’ 
of some 352 un-actioned fault 
reports into FY 16/17.

For FY 16/17 NW RFCA received 
an allocation of £619k, a reduction 
of £423k from FY15/16. The 
implications are that coupled with 
the unactioned fault reports from 
FY15/16 and the huge amount 
works arising from statutory and 
mandatory inspections and tests 
(from last FY) – and those that 
will arise this year, we are already 
forecasting an overspend by 
AP7 (October 2016). NW RFCA 
continues to raise this observation 
to CRFCA and DIO through 
various forums.

Reserve Armouries - 
upgrade  
Like the CCF armouries upgrade 
project, it is intended to procure 
through a UK wide central 
contract the upgrades to the ARC 
armouries.  The surveys of all the 
ARCs have been completed and 
the scheme has been costed and 
we are awaiting approval for the 
works to be carried out across 
the UK.  Nationally the costs are 
£16m.   

Works to provide a new training and office area for RMR Manchester to the 
existing garage infrastructure at Haldane Barracks, Salford, is now complete

Page 85



8 AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association

General Trends
Defence Relationship Management 
(DRM) reached full operational 
capability last year. In our region we 
continue to build a stronger, more 
capable and mutually-beneficial 
relationship with employers. Call 
Out orders have been issued 
under the new terms, which allow 
Reservists to be mobilised for 
any purpose that Regulars can be 
used. A good example is the call 
out of North West Reservists on the 
operations in the Mediterranean, 
Indian Ocean and Middle East 
regions, demonstrating the 
breadth of opportunity on offer in 
the Reserves.

Overall in the North West of 
England we continue to deliver 
the Future Reserves 2020 (FR20) 
Programme alongside all three 
Services as set out in the White 
Paper. 

Along with the Association, HQ 
42 Inf Bde & HQ NW provides the 
North West business community 
information about Defence, FR20 
and wider government Defence 
Strategy. Employer Engagement 
remains a high priority to support 
mobilisation, recruiting and the 
needs of Veterans and Cadets 
alike. 

Colonel John 
Charlesworth 

Chairman, 
Regional 
Employer 

Engagement 
Group

Employer Support
personnel objectives and 
encourage others to exhibit the 
same behaviours. Last year a 
total of 16 Gold Level Awards 
were made nationally, of which 
one, Essar Oil, is in our region. A 
further nine Silver Awards were 
made to North West employers. 
At the Bronze level, employers 
are able to state their intent to 
be supportive towards Defence 
personnel issues. The regional 
Silver Level recognises employers 
who actively demonstrate support, 
and the national Gold Level 
awards recognise employers who 
advocate support.

The Armed Forces Business 
Awards on 7 July 2016 will see 
another 14 companies receive the 
ERS Silver Award.

Armed Forces Covenant

The introduction of the Armed 

Activity and Effects
A key development has been the 
uplift to the NW RFCA Employer 
Engagement Staff with the addition 
of a part time (3 days) C2 post 
in order to support Op FORTIFY 
and wider employer engagement 
events. This additional resource 
in capability is most timely, as 
the introduction of the Employer 
Recognition Scheme has created 
additional work for the Association 
Engagement and Communications 
staff.

Employer Recognition Scheme

The Employer Recognition 
Scheme (ERS) was launched in 
2014 to commend organisations to 
support those who serve, or have 
served, and their families.

The ERS recognises those 
employers who support Defence 

Vice Admiral Jonathon Woodcock tours Cammell Lairds Engineering Departments

Pictured (L-R): Mike Sullivan, NW RFCA; Sqn Ldr Lee Rimmer, 
611 Sqn RAuxAF; Lt Col Rosie Stone, HQ 42 Inf Bde & HQ 

NW; Gary Hodgson, Peel Ports; Cdre Gary Doyle RN, NRCNE; 
Howard Sloane, Peel Ports; and, Lindsey Maloney, Peel Ports

Page 86



The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 9

this will help provide more targeted 
information for recruiting, and will 
provide additional insight capability. 
In terms of our regional marketing 
and communications strategy, 
we await clarity in some areas of 
how we might best support DRM 
and ongoing tri-service recruiting 
initiatives in order to strengthen our 
Reserve Forces and Cadets. 

Conclusion
Overall, the Association Employer 
Support effort mounted by our 
Regional Employer Engagement 
Group (REEG) led by Chairman 
Colonel John Charlesworth TD and 
his County Chairmen has helped 
ensure that NW Employers are 
broadly satisfied with the advice 
and support which they have 
received, particularly at times of 
mobilisation and demobilisation. 
The NW REEG alongside the 
Association representation at the 
Regional Employer Engagement 
Board (REEB) will ensure that our 
Association continue to make 
a significant contribution to the 
engagement landscape. 

Forces Covenant (AFC) has been 
well received in the region. As of 
10 June, the North West region had 
over 180 signatories. The Armed 
Forces Covenant is a promise from 
the nation to those who serve or 
have served in the Armed Forces 
and their families that they are 
treated fairly. This commitment 
means that no member of the 
Armed Forces community 
should face commercial or public 
disadvantage and that in some 
circumstances special treatment 
may be appropriate, especially for 
the injured or bereaved. Signatories 
in our region include local 
authorities, charities, community 
organisations and businesses of all 
sizes.

Recent employers to sign the 
AFC from our region include Peel 
Ports, Cammell Laird, Maersk, 
Cowley Groves (Isle of Man) and 
the Transport Training Academy to 
name but a few.

One of the work streams that 
flowed out of analysis of the 180 
North West signatories found 
that 61 local companies did not 
pledge support to Cadets. The 
Chief Executive therefore directed 
that the Regional Employer 
Engagement Director should 
approach these companies with 

a view to explaining the value of 
supporting Cadet Service, be it 
as a Cadet Force Adult Volunteer 
or as our Cadets being viewed 
as prospective employees. It 
is encouraging to report that 
once companies were briefed, 
all have pledged their support 
retrospectively

In terms of wider engagement, 
the County Chairmen continue to 
support the Regional Employer 
Engagement Team and Association 
efforts to ensure the profile of 
Defence, Reserves and Cadets is 
maintained throughout the region. 

Employer’s events of note this year 
include:

The North West Armed Forces 
Business & ERS Silver Awards at the 
Imperial War Museum; the Reserve 
Forces and Cadets Dinner on the 
IOM; and, Exercise Civil Service 
Warrior in Manchester. In addition, 
all our Reserve Units sponsored 
an Employers Event of some kind. 
These events ensured Defence had 
the opportunity to thank, reward 
and brief our guests from both the 
private and public sector.

Recent Developments 
Our database, Salesforce, continues 
to be upgraded and accredited; 

156 Regt RLC Employers’ Lunch 
at Haldane Barracks, Salford

Vice Admiral Jonathon Woodcock signs Corporate Covenant with 
the Managing Director of Cammell Lairds Mr Linton Roberts

Lynn Johnson from United Utilities visits 
Royal Marines Reservists in the Arctic

Page 87



10 AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association

Engagement
Building on the strengths of the ever-
popular Volunteer magazine, an established 
corporate website www.nwrfca.org.uk 
and a growing social media presence, the 
Association’s corporate communications 
continue to support the promotion of the 
Reserve Forces of the three Armed Services 
and the four Cadet organisations in the 
region. This year has also seen the addition 
of a new suite of corporate publications and 
other marketing, and again the Association’s 
programme of community engagement 
events has been focussed around the annual 
Lord-Lieutenants’ and Lieutenant Governor’s 
Awards for Reservists, Cadet Force Adult 
Volunteers, cadets and civil servants 
working in support of the Reserve Forces or 
Cadet organisations.

website, the aim of the E-newsletter 
is to keep our Association 
Members up to date with activities 
relevant to the Armed Forces 
community in the region. However, 
we rely on our members to ensure 
that we promote relevant activities 
in their local areas, so please keep 
us informed. If you currently do not 
receive the E-newsletter, please 
let us know. Over the last year the 
website has had an average of just 
over 5.5 thousand visits per month.

The last year has seen social 
media activity amongst our Armed 
Forces Community increase 
dramatically as Reserve and 
Cadet units have embraced the 
opportunities for profile-raising 
and recruiting. The Association’s 
social media presence has gone 
from strength to strength with, at 
time of writing, 692 page followers 
on Facebook and 1,124 followers 
on Twitter. If you’re not already 
following us, search for North 
West RFCA today.

The Volunteer Magazine
The Association’s magazine 
continues to be popular, with 
editorial features including 
historian Ian Riley’s ongoing 
narrative following the ‘Liverpool 
Scottish’ through the First World 
War, our regular interviews and 
our Technical Forum providing 
a detailed focus on an aspect 
of kit or training. If you have a 
suggestion for an editorial feature 
please get in touch. Over the 
coming year we will continue to 
focus on the online version of 
the magazine and its potential to 
reach a greater external audience 
via social media. 

Corporate Publications
The Association has enhanced 

its suite of marketing collateral 
for engagement events with the 
addition of three short information 
leaflets: an introduction to NW 
RFCA, who we are and what we 
do; an introduction to the Reserve 
Forces, how to get involved and 
information for employers; and, 
an introduction to the Cadet 
movement, and opportunities for 
Cadet Force Adult Volunteers. If 
as an Association Member you 
would be interested in a supply 
of these leaflets for engagement 
purposes in your own local area 
please let us know. 

Lord-Lieutenants’ and 
Lieutenant Governor’s 
Awards
At time of writing we have almost 
completed this year’s Lord-
Lieutenants’ and Lieutenant 
Governor’s Awards ceremonies 
in each of the counties of North 
West England and the Isle of 
Man. Over the past two years, 
the Association has increased 
the scale of these awards in 
terms of the guests invited, 
ensuring wider representation 
from our stakeholders and other 
community representatives, and 
venues, procuring iconic locations 
in each county which befit these 
prestigious awards. These awards 
have also been a major focus of 
the Association’s media calendar 
for the year, with press releases 
and photos from each of the 
awards being positively received 
by local press, recipients’ schools 
and employers, and military 
publications. The ceremonies 
have also been ‘tweeted’ live 
and published to Facebook, 
where they have proved to be 
some of our most popular posts, 
exceeding 7000 views.

‘E-communications’
The corporate website and 
monthly E-newsletter remain the 
Association’s primary channels 
of online communication with 
Association Members, other 
stakeholders and external 
audiences. Linking to news stories 
and events on the corporate Page 88



The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 11

Alternative Venues North West
Alternative Venues has had a very 
positive year indeed. During 2015-
16, 40 venues across the North 
West were active, albeit in varying 
degrees and encouragingly, most 
(if not all) sites were fully supportive 
of the AV initiative during the year. 
There has remained a significant 
discrepancy in levels of income 
generated across the estate, as 
the habitual trend of “right place 
right time” has prevailed.

Facts and Figures 
Overall RGI figures recorded have 
exceeded £520k for FY 15/16, and 
we are pleased to report that one 
site in particular has generated 
a formidable £41,000 (127 Fd 
Coy REME, Clifton Army Reserve 
Centre). Four other locations 
produced between £25K and £40K 
(Altcar Training Camp; Crown Gate 
Runcorn; 207 Fd Hosp Stretford 
Army Reserve Centre; and, 236 Sqn 
156 Regt RLC Haldane Barracks), 
whilst 10 sites generated between 
£10K and £25K. As is customary, 
this difference in income can be 
attributed to many factors at each 
site (for example, marketable 
facilities, available dates, availability 
of support staff etc.).

71% of the RGI figures quoted 
above came from actual venue 
hire, whilst 21% came from 
telecommunication masts of 
which there are currently sixteen 

situated over twelve sites. Four 
of these twelve sites actually 
have two masts and so are in an 
advantageous position in terms of 
generating income. The remainder 
of RGI came from bank interest 
and gains on sales of vehicles.

Ongoing Challenges
Eight of our venues are currently 
operating without caretakers, 
which can be a major obstacle 
in terms of hiring of the estate. 
These are: Blackpool, Bolton, 
Bury, Ellesmere Port, Bootle, 
Stretford, Rusholme and Widnes 
Army Reserve Centres. Despite 
this, three of the above sites do 
remain ‘AV active’, thanks to the 
additional support of permanent 
staff on site. However, bookings 
are inevitably limited at those sites 
where guaranteed out of hours 
access/egress is just not feasible. 

The potential disposal of certain 
locations remains a concern 
in terms of projected income 
going forward. In particular, 
the sites at Townsend Avenue 
(A Coy 4 LANCS) and The 
Armoury at Ashton currently have 
telecommunication masts that 
each generate £18,000 per year. 
Furthermore, the Ardwick Green 
site (currently 4 LANCS D Coy) 
generated close to £10,000 last FY 
so to see this venue close would 
affect our figures in the future.

The Year Ahead
The office continues to be 
extremely busy with new enquiries 
which are consistently from across 
the spectrum. Our reputation as a 
venue provider is certainly gaining 
in strength as we continue to 
network by exhibiting at business 
fairs both regionally and nationally. 
Most recently, AVNW was at 
both Liverpool and Manchester 
Business Fairs; later in the year, our 
venues will be promoted across 
the entire ‘blue light’ community 
at the Emergency Services Show 
(NEC, Birmingham). 

On a positive end note, we have 
already had a good start to 
financial year 16/17 and have 
generated in excess of £94k since 
1st April 2016.  With this in mind, I 
have no doubt that the year ahead 
will be both busy and fruitful. 

Page 89



12 AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association

Colonel Hilary 
Williams, 

Chairman, 
Joint Services 

Cadet 
Committee

Cadets and Youth
At the start of May 2016 there were 563 officers and 2,165 
Adult Instructors supporting 9,690 cadets across the Sea 
Cadets, Army Cadets and Air Cadets in the North West of 
England and the Isle of Man, along with 78 CCF officers and 
14 Adult Instructors supporting 1,804 cadets in schools 
across the region. This year has seen a fall in officer 
numbers across the Cadet organisations, from 647 to 641. 
The total number of Adult Instructors has also fallen slightly, 
from 2,222 to 2,179. The total number of cadets in the region 
has dipped from 12,181 to 11,494.

Several companies offer extra 
paid leave to Cadet Force Adult 
Volunteers; guaranteed interviews 
for cadets, and some advertise 
this through their company 
communications and recruitment 
channels. This welcome 
development is being encouraged 
by the REED and Cadet Executive 
Officers, and we look forward to 
continued progress in this area of 
our work.

Cadet Expansion 
Programme
With the announcement that the 
cadet Expansion Scheme is to be 
renewed for a 4-year programme, 
NW RFCA have been busy 
moving to place applications for 
ambitious schools in the North 
West of England.

The original scheme, now known 
as CEP 100, saw five North West 
schools approved and parading.  
These were King’s Leadership 
Academy (Warrington), Albion 
Academy (Salford), Christleton 
High School (Chester), Copley 
Academy (Stalybridge) and 
Energy Coast UTC (Workington).  
The first three schools chose CCF 
(RAF) with Sea Cadet Corps and 
CCF (RN) for the latter two.  A 
curious anomaly was the lack of 
any CCF (Army) candidates in this 
first cohort; schools entering the 
initiative were allowed to choose 
the service of their CCF.

The launch of the new scheme, 
CEP 500, in April 2016 was 
preceded by an advanced wave 
of schools that had started 
applications under CEP 100 but 

Since April 2016 the numbers 
of Cadets in all Counties save 
Cumbria has reduced.  This trend 
has generally continued over 
the last few years, although it 
is certainly not the case across 
all Detachments and some 
Detachments are demonstrating 
very strong increases in numbers.  
That said, the total taken on 
strength since April is 125 Army 
Cadets, balanced against 148 
struck off strength. 

Membership of the air and sea 
cadets has also fallen over the last 
year, with the ATC reducing from 
5,079 in 2015 to 3,608 in 2015, 
the SCC reducing from 3,150 to 
2,328.  During the same period, 
the CCF has reduced from 2,120 
down to 1,804.

Across the five cadet groups, 
the number of contingents, 
detachments, training ships and 
squadrons has remained more or 
less constant.

Employer support to Cadets
As a result of ongoing Armed 
Forces Covenant engagement 
work with employers of our Cadet 

Force Adult Volunteers there has 
been an upturn in the interest 
shown by several North West 
companies in looking to our Cadet 
Forces as potential employees. 
Association led engagement 
initiatives in the region have 
highlighted the advantages that 
employers can gain by seeking to 
support the Cadet Forces at both 
the Adult Volunteer and Cadet 
levels.

Employer’s value the leadership, 
personal development and 
interpersonal skills developed 
through involvement at all levels 
within the Cadet organisations, 
offering companies the potential 
for a well-rounded, active and 
interested workforce.

Air Cadets 
parade on 

Merseyside

100 years of Calday Grange 
Grammar School CCF

Army Cadets from Merseyside 
on Annual Camp

Page 90



The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 13

by all.  Immediately following 
camp, 20 of the Cadets went 
straight on to South Africa for 3 
weeks adventurous training, and 
a tour of the ‘ZULU’ battlefields.

MSCC Fundraising Ball
Terry Robinson, the County 
Chairman of The MSSC 
(Merseyside Branch) held a fund 
raising Autumn Ball for 50 local 
dignitaries at the Liverpool Marina.  
The evening was supported by the 
Corps of Drums of the Ellesmere 
Port Sea Cadets.  Also lending 
their support for the occasion 
were Lt Cdr Toni Cioma RNR, 
Cdr Cedric Loughran RNR, and a 
past Commanding Officer of HMS 
EAGLET, Cdr Phil Russ RNR, now 
the North West Sea Cadet Corps 
Area Officer.

ATC
Developing Leadership through 
problem solving challenges 
and command tasks is not new 
to the ATC, and Air Cadets at 
Cumbria and Lancashire Wing’s 
camp at Halton realised how 
complex coordinating a group 
with challenging tasks could be.   
A joint parade on Rememberence 
Sunday between 1982 (Huyton) 
Squadron and 1438 (Prescot) 
Squadron RAF Air Cadets was 
well attended and well received by 
the local community in Liverpool.  
The parade was a welcome 
opportunity for the squadrons 
to show off their well-honed drill 
skills and justified pride in their 
units.

year at Calday Grange Grammar 
School, the contingent of 100 
cadets paraded at the school in 
West Kirby on Saturday 19 March 
2016.  Alongside its own banners 
on parade, the Contingent was 
particularly proud to have the 
honour of bearing the Combined 
Cadet Force banner, on loan for 
the occasion from the Cadet 
Training Centre, Frimley. 

Founded in 1915, Merchant 
Taylors’ School CCF continues 
to thrive and help develop 
the potential of its pupils.  A 
Service of Commemoration 
and Celebration was held at 
their local St. Faith’s Church in 
Crosby, in the Presence of HRH 
The Duke of York, KG. During the 
Service Dame Lorna Muirhead, 
the Lord Lieutenant, presented 
a new Standard to the CCF and 
this was followed by a Review of 
the 250 Tri-Service cadets by the 
Inspecting Officer Commodore 
David Dutton, RN;  an ‘ Old Boy ‘ 
of the School.

Annual Camp for 
Merseyside ACF
Nearly 350 Army Cadets from 33 
Detachments across Merseyside 
attended Annual Camp at 
Otterburn. A packed programme 
was laid on, with assistance from 
a Regular Army Training Team 
and members of The Rifles, 4 
LANCS and 42 Infantry Brigade 
CTT. The training camp was 
shared with a number of Regular 
Units including a detachment of 
Army Air Corps Apache Combat 
Helicopters; and of course the 
‘fam visit’ was well appreciated 

had not managed to make much 
progress before the programme 
paused.  In addition, some schools 
(and colleges) who had expressed 
an interest when the scheme was 
on hold were allowed to try and 
move to approval standard in an 
extremely ambitious timeframe.

From the end of January until the 
deadline for the first approval round 
in mid-April, the newly appointed 
School Cadet Expansion Officer 
for NW RFCA, Sqn Ldr Mark 
Byrne, working closely with 42 
Infantry Brigade and the other 
single Services managed to get 
applications for five new schools 
completed. These were all agreed 
by the 1* Cadet Expansion 
Steering Group.

This time around, we have three 
CCF (Army) applications alongside 
another CCF (RAF) candidate and 
one for the Sea Cadet Corps.  
Geographically, three are from 
Merseyside, one from Lancashire 
and one from Cumbria.

We have already identified 
additional candidates for 
engagement with the majority 
from the Greater Manchester and 
Lancashire areas.  These will be 
engaged with and applications 
taken forward for suitable 
candidates.  The next approval 
round is in November 2016 with 
additional rounds each April and 
November until 2019 with the 
scheme finishing in March 2020.

100 years of CCF at Calday 
Grange Grammar School and 
Merchant Taylor’s School
To commemorate its centenary 

A helicopter visit

(Above and below):  
Sea Cadets fundraising ball

Air Cadets on camp at Halton

Page 91



14 AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association

The Association began the 
financial year 15/16 with a budget 
allocation of £9.09M. In addition 
to this the Association had carried 
forward reserves of £214K and 
receipts in advance of £4.27M to 
fund various projects such as the 
joint cadet centres.

The budget increased during the 
year to reflect new projects and 
priorities and funding available 
for the year totalled £19.3m 
(excluding RGI). In year allocations 
included in excess of £6m for 
projects to improve the Estate 
including rebasing works, security 
enhancements, improvements to 
Altcar and two substantial projects: 
RMR Manchester at Haldane 
Barracks, and the relocation of 6 MI 
Bn at Norman Road, Manchester. 
The NW also received £543K for 
the Betterment of specific areas of 
the Volunteer Estate.

As a number of the capital projects 
span two financial years, Receipts 
In Advance of £3.7M have been 
carried forward into FY16/17.

The Association’s accounts 
represent income from 15 distinct 
funding streams. The consolidated 
accounts for FY15/16 have been 
audited and the Balance Sheet 
and Income and Expenditure 
report are included at page 18.

The pie charts on p15 illustrate 

Lieutenant 
Colonel 

Roger Hoyle, 
Chairman, 
Financial 
Advisory 

Board

Finance
both the summary of income and 
how this has been allocated to 
our outputs with 28% allocated to 
infrastructure (primarily rents/rates 
and utilities) and 25% earmarked 
for Estates Management. 

In addition to the funding provided, 
NW RFCA have generated £521k 
of income primarily through the 
work of the Alternative Venues 
team. This Regionally Generated 
income is used for the support 
of the units within the North 
West both directly and indirectly. 
Examples of how the funding is 
used is outlined  below:  

Turning to our Trusts, units 
have been supported with grant 
contributions in FY 15/16 as 
summarised in the table opposite. 
In some cases the Trustees 
had more funds available for 
allocation but limited applications 
were received. The Trusts meet 
annually in early Autumn, and are 
keen to receive applications from 
eligible units.

REGIONAL GENERATED INCOME – DISTRIBUTION: 

Refunds to units for use of facilities for hiring to 3rd parties £113,099

Maintenance Works to the Estate £89,113

Donations to units for Adventure Training, Equipment, Expeditions etc £53,800

Production of the Volunteer Magazine £43,750

Business Development and Alternative Venues direct costs £76,984

Financial Year, Management and Year End Position

TRUST GRANTS AWARDED IN 2015/16: 

Stretford Road Trust £10,445

Macclesfield Drill Hall Trust   £8,945

NW Army Cadet Force Trust Fund £21,895

Congleton Drill Hall Trust (no bids received) £0

Yorkshire Street Trust £6,820

Total £48,105Page 92



The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 15

Summary of Income FY 2015/16 Expenditure FY 2015/16

GLOSSARY OF FUNDING SOURCES (NW RFCA)

CRF GIA (Commander Regional Forces Grant in Aid)
This is one of our main budgets and is used mainly to fund: salaries, IT & administration.

DIO Infrastructure (Defence Infrastructure Organisation previously known as Defence Estates)
A new funding stream in 2013/14, this funds Infrastructure costs, i.e. utilities / rents / rates which were previously funded by GIA. 

DIO Maintenance
This funds Estate Management works eg statutory works, reactive maintenance, grounds maintenance etc.

DIO RDel (DIO Revenue Departmental Expenditure Limit)
Funding source used for in year injections of funding for revenue / minor new works projects. 

DIO CDel (DIO Capital Departmental Expenditure Limit)
Funding source used for in year injections of funding for capital / minor new works projects. Capital projects usually improve the useful life 
of an asset and the value of an asset.

DInfra RDel (Director of Infrastructure Revenue Departmental Expenditure Limit)
Usually this funding stream is used to fund adaptations to wounded soldier properties (ISLA – injured soldiers living accommodation). 
Occasionally other improvements will be included under this stream too.

CRF Vehicles (Commander Regional Forces)
Funding specifically for purchasing vehicles for Association (classed as capital expenditure) but does not include maintenance of vehicles.

ATC Input (Air Training Corp)
Used to fund infrastructure (rents /utilities) and some salaries

FLEET
Occasional Funds provided for e.g. RMR & HMS Eaglet for specific purposes e.g. promotional graphics. 

FUNDING SUNDRY (previously called CRG Commander Recruiting Group)
This funding source includes Publicity & Recruiting grant for ACF’s, Youth United grant funding & other occasional injections.

RAF RDel (Royal Air Force Revenue Departmental Expenditure Limit)
Specific funding allocated for works on RAF sites.

FIXED ASSETS
This source is used by Council RFCA to allocate depreciation against vehicles purchased under CRF Vehicles.

DE Cdel 
15%

DInfra Rdel 
2%

Employer 
Support 

0.5%

CRF Vehicles 
1%

ATC Input 
4%

Funding 
Sundry 

4%

Regionally 
Generated 

Income 
3%

Other  
(Fleet/RAuxAF/
RAF RDel/CRF 
Grants) 0.5%

Grant in Aid 
26%

DIO Infrastructure 
23%

DIO 
Maintenance 

11%

DE RDel 
10%

Infrastructure  
(Rates, Rents, Utilities) 

28%

Administration & HR 
2%

Other (IT/Recruiting Support/Transport/
Comms) 3%

Staff Costs 
18%

Estate Management 
25%

Capital 
Expenditure 

20%

Adaptations to Injured 
Soldiers Properties 

2%

Reserve 
& Cadet 
Support 

2%

Page 93



16 AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association

Commander 
Cedric 

Loughran, 
Chairman, 

Altcar 
Training 

Camp 
Committee

This year has smashed all 
expectations, both in terms of 
investment but also use of the 
camp. Below you can see a 
comparison of data for 2014, 
2015 and where we stand to 
date in 2016. Altcar has already 
received 42 bids for the training 
year 2017-18.

Altcar 
Training 
Camp
What an exciting year 
it has been for those 
working, training and 
living on Altcar Training 
Camp. Following a year of 
investment in the site’s 
facilites, 2015/16 has 
seen  a significant rise in 
usage for the period from 
all three Services, Regular, 
Reserve and Cadets. 

addition of a second servery

•	 Re-wiring of the Explosive 
Safety Houses (ammunition 
compound)

•	 Sefton Mess refurbishment:  
painting, kitchen store and toilet 
upgrades and some external 
pointing and tarmacking

•	 Gymnasium: re-roofing and 
painting of the whole building

•	 New toilet block added for 
buildings 37a and 37b

•	 Troop Shelter for ‘C’ range 
including internal ablutions

•	 New smoking shelter outside 

Hunter Hall

•	 Additional tarmacking carried 
out throughout the site

•	 Obstacle Course refurbishment 
which included all obstacles

•	 Floodgates 1 & 2 refurbishment 
turning what were residential 
properties into additional 
accommodation blocks

•	 WiFinity (Internet) installed 
throughout the main camp 
including accommodation and 
classrooms – Pay As You Go 
system

•	 Internal decoration/
refurbishment of Hesketh 
(Railway) Cottage

•	 Red Rose refurbishment to 
include a retail outlet, bar, 
café and shop in the building.  
Managed by Sodexo staff

•	 Mobile trailer permanently 
on site managed by Sodexo 

Unit Designation 2014 2015 2016 2017 
 Unit Bids Total Unit Bids Increasing Unit Bids  Unit Bids

Regular Forces 32 104 87 19

Reserve Forces 87 195 191 16

Cadets 118 229 225 7

The number of bids for 2015 (at 
the end of the training year) was 
528. Total bids to date for 2016 
currently stands at 503.  However, 
with 10 months remaining before 
we go into another round of 
training bids, 2016 is expected to 
either equal or surpass the overall 
2015 total.

Bed usage for 2015 was over 
108,000, the highest it has been 
since 2010, and the ranges were 
in use for 297 days.

This year, investment on the site 
has included:

•	 Hunter Hall extension:  increase 
from 192 seats to 320 and 

The County of 
Lancashire Rifle 

Association 
Competition

The newly refurbished 
Obstacle Course

Page 94



The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 17

•	 Royal Marines Operational 
Shooting Competition

•	 27 weeks ITC Catterick live 
firing recruit training

•	 Cadet Skill At Arms Competition

•	 Pre-deployment training for 
various operations

•	 Naval Support Helicopter 
Exercise (included Community 
Engagement visit)

•	 National Rifle Association Event

Grounds Maintenance and 
Conservation
Grounds maintenance this year 
has been very challenging.   With 
a significant amount of rainfall 
over the winter months, keeping 
the range complex fit for purpose 
has been both manpower - and  
equipment-intensive.   A number 
of ranges suffered significant 
flooding and had to be ‘pumped 
out’ in order to keep them both 
safe and serviceable.  Plant 
vehicle usage has been limited 
on some areas as they were likely 
to cause damage to tracks and 
field/training areas.   A number of 
vehicles using the site have had 
to be recovered using the on-
site tractors or recovery vehicles.  

providing a mobile catering 
facility across the site

•	 Security Camera upgrade for 
main entrance and exit routes

•	 New maintenance equipment 
– tractor accessories, new off 
road mules

In terms of the usual annual 
inspections which included a 
3-yearly MOD Range Inspection,  
Altcar has once again excelled.   
This is mainly due to the hard 
work and effort from staff and 
the excellent support received 
from HQ RFCA, in particular the 
Infrastructure department.

Major Events
Altcar is a designated Forward 
Operating Base (FOB) for the 
North West. Major exercises, 
competitions, and operational 
training this year have included:

•	 HQ 42 Inf Bde & HQ NW Regular 
and Reserve Operational 
Shooting Competition

•	 UKRFA Altcar Challenge Multi-
National Competition

•	 County of Lancashire Rifle 
Association Competition

•	 Five fortnightly ACF Camps

Altcar Training Camp contains 
a wide range of habitats across 
the 620 acres of beach, dunes, 
woods and grassland.  Part 
of the site is a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) and 
also a designated European Site 
where management is approved 
through Natural England.   There 
is an ongoing and ever-evolving 
SSSI management plan in place 
which has recently been updated.   
The plan includes mowing the 
dune grassland, scrub control, 
creation of bare sand patches 
and Natterjack toads and Sand 
lizards. The site as a whole is of 
Biological Interest.   Rare species 
on site include Red squirrel, Barn 
owl, Brown hare and the orchid 
meadows. There is an active 
Conservation Group who meet to 
help, advise and promote Altcar 
by inviting local societies and the 
general public into the camp, and 
encouraging public guided walks.   
None of this work interferes with 
military business.

Code’s Retreat - PODS
Altcar Training Camp is raising 
funds for the ‘Code’s Retreat’ 
PODs project. This initiative 
is designed to support our 
wounded, injured and sick 
service personnel. The camp has 
a designated site where it will 
place 4 PODs on concrete bases.   
The ground will be developed 
with parking, ablutions, kitchen 
area, workshop, fire pit and BBQ 
area. The project must be self-
funding. The idea is to provide 
an area which is secluded and 
secure where current and former 
service personnel can come 
and sleep overnight in a POD, 
hopefully relax, and enjoy the 
scenery & wildlife. There will 
also be an opportunity for them 
to chat to military personnel 
who are training on the site. It is 
hoped that the facility will help our 
injured servicemen and women, 
both serving and retired, in their 
recovery process. What has been 
so positive about this project is 
the interest it has generated from 
local people, businesses and 
various other organisations.  It has 
indeed been a significant factor in 
raising funds for this worthwhile 
collaborative Community 
Engagement enterprise. The site is 
still currently under development 
but is now taking shape.

ITC Catterrick on B Range - the only military 
range in the country with 38 lanes

The new Troop Shelter during the building stage

The newly refurbished Shapter Hall Gymnasium, 
including new roof and external paintworkCodes Retreat

Page 95



18 AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association

  2016 2015

INCOME
Funding via Council of RFCAs  15,694,346  11,668,403
Funding received direct from funders  - -
Receipts generated by the RFCA  548,818  482,897

ToTal Income  16,243,164  12,151,300

EXPENDITURE
eSTaTeS manaGemenT
Statutory & Mandatory  401,639  389,105
Planned Maintenance  312,685  72,259
Reactive Maintenance  1,170,231  925,099
Life Cycle Replacement  - 2,326
Condition Grade Improvement  - 547,713
Injections / Projects RDEL and MNW  2,197,121  464,949
Prof Fees/Ext Assistance  2,009 -

Sub Total  4,083,685  2,401,451

caPITal eXPenDITURe
Land & Buildings  - 98,944
Assets in the Course of Construction  3,180,782  836,119

Sub Total  3,180,782  935,063

STaFF coSTS  
LE NI Civ Staff Pay  2,089,739  2,077,858
UK NI Civ ERNIC  152,515  152,175
LE Civ Ind Staff Pay  313,406  308,519
UK Ind Civ ERNIC  18,894  18,052
Non PCSPS Pens Payments  272,398  279,164

Sub Total  2,846,952  2,835,768

InFRaSTRUcTURe
Gas   599,712  657,923
Electricity   913,021  880,550
Water & Sewage   1,955  620
Estate & FMS Accommodation Stores   343,532  202,198
Energy Cons & Environmental Change   616,706  522,572
Rates/NDR   1,588,030  1,585,253
Sub –Letting Costs   137,330  132,245
Rents/Leases/Alarms/Lettings   344,267  320,190

Sub Total  4,544,553  4,301,551

IT & commS
IT Minor Equipment HW/SW   19,580  30,002
IT Maintenance Services & Contracts   67,639  55,745
Line & Tel Rental   35,073  26,006

Sub Total  122,292  111,753

TRanSPoRT & moVemenT
Depreciation   234,929  222,894
Loss on sale of vehicle   11,424  6,831
Vehicle Maint   34,259  24,688
Fuel (Non Utilities)   9,439  -

Sub Total  290,051  261,413

RecRUITInG SUPPoRT
Employer Support (SaBRE)   10,958  13,790
Recruiting Support   93,904  105,787

Sub Total  104,862  119,577

Income and Expenditure Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2016

Finance Financial Year, Management and Year End Position

Page 96



The North West of England and the Isle of Man Reserve Forces’ and Cadets’ Association AGM 2016 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 19

  2016 2015

EXPENDITURE Continued

GRanTS
CRFCA Payment   104,926  93,000
Payments to Welfare Assoc   341,973  281,735
ACF Travel & Consolidated Grants   238,827  271,744
TA Establishment & Band Grant   6,576  8,822
RAuxAF Admin & PR   4,100  4,280

Sub Total  696,402  659,581

aDmInISTRaTIon
Office/General Administration   257,406  309,624
Education/Training   3,517  4,967
Professional Fees   26,711  27,722
Insurance   18,976  35,708
Travel & Subsistence   36,236  35,984

Sub Total  342,846  414,005

HR SUPPoRT
HR & Recruiting – Civilian Assoc Staff   4,574  4,630

Sub Total  4,574  4,630

ToTal eXPenDITURe  16,216,999  12,044,792

Excess Income/(Expenditure) for the Year  26,165  106,508

BALANCE SHEET
non cURRenT aSSeTS
Vehicles (net book value)   851,172  913,215

cURRenT aSSeTS
Current Account   4,280,390  5,122,118
Petty Cash   600  600
Other Debtors   150,157  56,644
Prepayments & Accrued Income   149,460  217,878

  4,580,607  5,397,240

cURRenT lIaBIlITIeS
Other Creditors   153,306  319,562
Accruals/Deferred Payments   412,046  591,915
Advance Receipts   3,712,258  4,270,974

  (4,277,610)  (5,182,451)

non cURRenT lIaBIlITIeS
Creditors due in more than one year   -  -

ToTal aSSeTS leSS ToTal lIaBIlITIeS   1,154,169  1,128,004

FInanceD BY
Capital reserves   851,172  913,215
General reserves   302,997  214,789

  1,154,169  1,128,004

The financial statements were approved by the Board 
on 19th May 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Colonel N D O Williams TD JP DL, Chairman

Colonel M C H Underhill OBE, Chief Executive

Income and Expenditure Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2016

Finance Financial Year, Management and Year End Position

Page 97



For further information:
Call 0151 727 4552 
email nw-comms@rfca.mod.uk 
or visit www.nwrfca.org.uk

Produced by Select Design Limited, 
Unit 3, Bridgebank Industrial Estate, Taylor Street, Horwich, Bolton BL6 7PD 
Tel: 01204 478817 www.selectdesignltd.co.uk

Conclusion
I hope that this 
journal has given 
you a snapshot of 
the work undertaken 
by the salaried staff 
against our core 
three pillar outputs.  
I must also mention 
the quite outstanding 
work undertaken 
by the Professional 
Support Staff in the 
five counties and Isle 
of Man.  Whilst they 
are wholly supporting 
their ACF counties/
organisations they 
are part of the 
salaried staff of NW 
RFCA and under some 
trying circumstances 
throughout the year 
for the ACF they have 
kept their outputs to 
a very high level.

I would also like to thank our 
Service customers. Relationships 
have never been better with the 
Brigade Commander and his 
staff at 42 Inf Bde & HQ NW, the 
Naval Regional Commander and 
his staff from Naval Regional 
Headquarters Northern England & 
Isle of Man, the RAF (611 RAuxAF 
Sqn), and the tri-Service cadet 
organisations. By having a solid 
foundation of support from the 
three Services certainly makes 
the work a lot easier for the staff 
within the Association to meet 
the tasks placed upon us as an 
organisation.

I would like to conclude this 
report by thanking you, our 
Association Members, for your 
ongoing commitment in support 
of the Reserve Forces and 
Cadets in the North West of 
England and the Isle of Man. In 
this continued period of change, 
opportunities and challenges, 
we continue to rely on you to 
act as ambassadors on behalf 
of NW RFCA and the Reservists 
and Cadets we support. We will 
continue to keep you informed 
with regular updates, news and 
events, and will continue to rely 
on your local knowledge, your 
professional expertise and your 
feedback to ensure we continue 
to facilitate, support promote and 
serve our Reservists, Cadet Force 
Adult Volunteers and cadets. 
Please keep in contact with us 
and if you have any questions or 
uncertainties we will try and give 
you the correct answer: this all 
informed network will stand us in 
good stead as we move forward. 
Also, my eternal thanks to the 
President, Vice Presidents and my 
board members who have all give 
an abundance of their own time to 
further our work.  

Penultimatley, it would be remiss of 
me if I did not brief you all on the 
potential move of NW RFCA from 
Alexandra Court to a new location.  
Sadly, with diminishing budgets and 
increased costs for maintenance, I, 
as Chairman cannot justify more 
and more money being spent on 
the building which has a number of 
ongoing faults when the reserve and 
cadet estate is also deteriorating 
and in some circumstances is not 
in a condition to be able to meet 
their statutory and mandatory 
requirements. In October last year, 
on the recommendation of the NW 
RFCA Property Advisory Board, the 
NW RFCA Board agreed for the 
Chief Executive to scope potential 
new locations which if agreed 
would mean the subsequent 
disposal of Alexandra Court. An 
architect has been appointed and 
is currently undertaking investment 
appraisals to look at the following 
options:

•	 Do nothing

•	 New build at existing Army 
Reserve Centre

•	 Refurbishment of an existing 
Army Reserve Centre

•	 New build at Altcar Training 
Camp

•	 New build at a non-military 
location

All of the above options have been 
presented to the NW RFCA board, 
and I will be able to update you on 
next steps during this AGM.

Finally, I would like to add my 
personal thanks to the very 
committed and dedicated staff we 
are blessed with at NW RFCA. Led 
very ably by the Chief Executive all 
have really stepped up to the mark 
over what has been yet another 
challenging and hugely busy year.

Colonel Nick 
Williams, 

Chairman, 
NW RFCA

NorthWestRFCA

@NorthWestRFCA

Page 98


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of meetings held on 19 July 2017 and 23 August 2017
	082317 23rd August 2017

	6 Membership of Committees and Panels
	7 Appointment of Statutory Section 151 Officer
	8 Co-opted Members and Independent Persons -  Recommendations of Independent Remuneration Panel
	9 Salford City Council Constitution - Amendments
	10 Treasury Management Outturn Report 2016/17
	11 Stonewall Diversity Champions and Employer Index Programme 2017/18
	17 Scheduled Reports from Board Members
	17c NW Employers Assoc Annual Report
	17d Manchester Port Health Authority Report  2017_2018
	17e Salix Homes Outside Bodies Report Sept
	17f Territorial ArmyReservedVolunteer_AGM_2016_FINAL


